Body Composition Assessment of Premature Infants in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

A Dissertation

## SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE

## UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA

ΒY

Emily Maria Nagel

## IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

## FOR THE DEGREE OF

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Carrie Penland Earthman

August 2019

© Emily Maria Nagel 2019

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work would not have been possible without the support of many people.

I am grateful to the parents of study participants for allowing their infants to take part in my research in the neonatal intensive care unit at Masonic Children's Hospital.

Many thanks to my advisor, Dr. Carrie Earthman and my committee of "power women", Dr. Sara Ramel, Dr. Ellen Demerath, and committee chair Dr. Cathy Kotz for lending your expertise and guidance and for being fantastic role models and examples of women excelling in research. I have learned so much from all of you. A special thank you to my faculty adviser, Dr. Carrie Earthman, for supporting my pursuit of pediatric research and providing encouragement and guidance along the way.

Thank you to Dr. Ellen Demerath and Dr. David Vock for creating time to assist with the statistical methods for my research.

I am grateful to the Healthy Foods Healthy Lives Institute and the Gerber Foundation for their financial support of this research.

Thank you to current members of the Earthman lab, Katie Price and Alissa Perteet-Jackson for your camaraderie and friendship and to former members, Adam Kuchnia and Levi Teigen for the many hours of discussion (and continued mentorship), including me in your research, and for not getting mad at me for my aggressive manuscript edits. I owe a lot of my success thus far to both of you.

To Laura Gearman and the pediatric dietitians at Masonic Children's Hospital—thank you for allowing me to continue developing my clinical skills in between classes and research.

To my amazing parents-thank you for being my biggest fans and always encouraging me to "just do the next thing" and remember to "cross that bridge when I come to it." You are the reason why I chose to study nutrition.

To Dave, my partner and best friend-a million thanks for moving to the frozen tundra of Minnesota with me and for listening to me talk endlessly about my research for the past 3 years. Your love and support mean the world to me.

### ABSTRACT

Premature infants experience growth alterations that place them at risk for adverse metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes. Monitoring the quality of weight gain through body composition assessment in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) may help clinicians gauge the response to nutritional provision and guide future interventions that promote adequate growth and neurodevelopment while reducing the risk for obesity and metabolic disease.

While length and weight are regularly tracked during an infant's NICU stay, these measurements do not adequately represent total body adiposity shortly after birth. Thus, a method of body composition which is non-invasive, portable, and able to be frequently utilized in both critically ill and medically stable infants is desirable. Unfortunately, many current methods of body composition are invasive, expensive, involve ionizing radiation, or are unsuitable for repeated measurement in a medically fragile infant. Thus, this dissertation project explores methods to monitor body composition in premature infants in the NICU setting with a focus on ultrasound.

The first study explored the ability of weight for length indices of the body to serve as proxies for adiposity in preterm infants. Indices examined include weight for length (W/L), body mass index (BMI), and ponderal index (PI). Each index was examined for its ability to predict fat mass (FM), fat-free mass (FFM), and percent body fat (%BF). None of the indices adequately reflected adiposity in preterm infants, indicating that assessing body composition in preterm infants requires more than weight and length measurements, and other methods of bedside assessment should be pursued.

The second study examined the ability of ultrasound to assess body composition in premature infants in the NICU setting. Ultrasound images of the biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps were obtained for assessment of adipose and muscle thickness and were compared with body composition measurements (FFM, FM, %BF) taken using air displacement plethysmography (ADP). While ultrasound measurements of biceps and quadriceps muscle thickness correlated with total FFM, ultrasound measurements were not included in final models for predicting FFM. Biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps adipose thickness correlated with total FM and %BF, but only biceps adipose was selected in the final model predicting %BF. The sum of ultrasound adipose thickness measures was selected for the final model predicting %BF. However, all models had low predictive ability due to low proportion of variance explained (R<sup>2</sup>) and/or high prediction error (root mean square error, RMSE).

While the study conducted here does not support the use of ultrasound measurements of adipose and muscle thickness of the biceps, abdomen, or quadriceps alone to predict body composition in preterm infants, exploration of additional sites or cross-sectional area may improve predictive ability. Additionally, ultrasound measurements may have some value as a prognostic tool for other clinical outcomes, such as neurodevelopment or readiness for NICU discharge. Regardless, this work highlights the need for clinical body composition methods appropriate for premature infants to help monitor for disease risk and assist in the refinement of current nutrition practices in the NICU.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
ABSTRACT	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW – CLINICAL APPLICATION OF BODY COMPOSITION METHODS IN PREMATURE INFANTS	4
CHAPTER SYNOPSIS	5
INTRODUCTION	6
Challenges to assessing body composition in the NICU	8
Air displacement plethysmography (ADP)	9
Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA)	10
Skinfold Measurements	12
Ultrasound	14
DISCUSSION	15
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE	.ECT 22
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS	.ECT 22 23
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION	. <b>ECT</b> 22 23 24
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS	.ECT 22 23 24 25
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis	22 23 24 25 26
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS	22 23 24 25 26 27
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION	22 23 24 25 26 27 38
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ECT 22 23 24 25 26 27 38 40
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOS	
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOS IN PREMATURE INFANTS	22 23 24 25 26 27 38 40 SITION 42
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOS IN PREMATURE INFANTS CHAPTER SYNOPSIS	22 23 24 25 26 26 27 38 40 SITION 42 43
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOS IN PREMATURE INFANTS CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION	22 23 24 25 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 24 
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFL ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS Statistical Analysis RESULTS DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOS IN PREMATURE INFANTS CHAPTER SYNOPSIS INTRODUCTION METHODS	22 23 24 24 25 26 26 27 38 40 SITION 42 43 43 45

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

RESULTS	48
Participant Characteristics	48
Reliability	49
US measurements of muscle thickness and whole body FFM	50
US measurements of adipose tissue thickness and whole body FM and %BF	50
Sensitivity Analysis	51
DISCUSSION	52
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	55
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	62
CONCLUSIONS	63
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	64
Reliability of ultrasound measurements and longitudinal measurements	64
Ability of ultrasound measurements of muscle thickness to predict neurodevelopmental outcomes	64
Ability of ultrasound measurements to predict metabolic outcomes and corrected age at discharge from the NICU	ا 64
Preliminary Data	65
REFERENCES	69

# LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW – CLINICAL APPLICATION OF BODY COMPOSITION METHODS IN PREMATURE INFANTS
Table 2.1: Precision and Accuracy of Body Composition Methods in Infants17
Table 2.2: Evaluation of Body Composition Methods for Bedside Assessment of         Preterm Infants         21
CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFLECT ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE
Table 3.1: Infant descriptive characteristics and body composition by corrected age at measurement
Table 3.2: Pearson's correlation coefficients for predictors and outcomes in 260         preterm infants by corrected gestational age at measurement
Table 3.3: R <sup>2</sup> and root MSE for prediction of body composition by weight/length         indices in preterm infants by corrected gestational age         32
Table 3.4: Relationship between predictors and FMI and FFMI in preterm infants by         CGA group
Table 3.5: Relationship between W/L indices and %BF by GA at birth and sex in 260 preterm infants <32 weeks vs ≥ 32 weeks GA at birth
Table 3.6: Relationship between W/L indices and %BF by gestational age and sex in         term infants versus preterm infants at term-corrected age
CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOSITION IN PREMATURE INFANTS42
Table 4.1: Descriptive characteristics of preterm infants (n=63)49
Table 4.2: Intra-rater reliability of ultrasound measurements         49
Table 4.3: Pearson's correlation coefficients for US measurements of muscle         thickness and whole body FFM
Table 4.4: Pearson's correlation coefficients for US51
Table 4.5: Association of individual US measurements of adipose tissue thicknesswith FM and %BF in 63 preterm infants measured at mean corrected age of 35 weeks
Table 4.6: Association of individual US measurements of muscle thickness with FFM         in 63 preterm infants measured at mean corrected age of 35 weeks
Table 4.7: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of FFM from US measurementsof muscle thickness and USM and weight, length, and GA in 63 preterm infants atmean corrected age of 35 weeks

Table 4.8: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of FM from US measurements of adipose tissue thickness and USM, weight, length, and GA in 63 preterm infants a mean corrected age of 35 weeks	3 at 59
Table 4.9: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of %BF from US measurements of adipose tissue thickness and USA and GA in 63 preterm infants a mean corrected age of 35 weeks	t 60
Supplemental Table 4.1: Sensitivity Analysis: stepwise regression analysis for prediction of FM and %BF from the sum of US measurements of adipose tissue thickness, CGA, and length in 63 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks	s 61
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	62
Table 5.1: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of corrected age at dischargefrom US measurements of muscle thickness and USM, GA, weight, and length in 47preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks	, 67
Table 5.2: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of corrected age at discharge from US measurements of adipose thickness and GA, CGA, and weight in 47 preter infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks	m 68
REFERENCES	69

## LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFLEC ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE	т 22
Figure 3.1 Scatterplot of the relationship between BMI and %BF in 74 preterm infants measured between 28-33 weeks corrected gestational age	33
Figure 3.2: Scatterplot of the relationship between BMI and %BF in 175 preterm infants measured between 34-36 weeks corrected gestational age	33
Figure 3.3 Scatterplot of the relationship between BMI and %BF in 113 preterm infants measured between 37-42 weeks corrected gestational age	34
Figure 3.4 Scatterplot of the relationship between WL and %BF in 111 preterm infametation measured between 43-63 weeks corrected gestational age	ants 34
CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOSITIC IN PREMATURE INFANTS	ON 42
Figure 4.1: Ultrasound images of the biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps	47

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- **%BF:** percent body fat
- AA: abdominal adipose
- **ADP:** air displacement plethysmography
- AIC: Akaike information criterion
- AICC: Akaike information criterion corrected
- **ASPEN:** American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition
- BA: biceps adipose
- **BIS:** bioimpedance Spectroscopy
- **BMI:** body mass index
- CGA: corrected gestational age
- CI: confidence interval
- CV%: coefficient of variation (percent)
- **DXA:** dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
- ECW: extracellular water
- FM: fat mass
- FFM: fat-free mass
- **GA**: gestational age at birth
- ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient

ICW: intracellular water

- **IR:** impedance ratio
- LOA: limits of agreement
- **MF-BIA:** multifrequency bioimpedance analysis
- **MRI**: magnetic resonance imaging
- **NICU**: neonatal intensive care unit
- QA: quadriceps adipose
- **RMSE**: root mean square error
- **SD:** standard deviation
- SF-BIA: single-frequency bioimpedance analysis
- SFT: skinfold thickness
- **TEM**: technical error of measurement
- US: ultrasound
- **USA**: sum of ultrasound adipose measurements
- USM: sum of ultrasound muscle measurements

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

In 2017, approximately 10% of babies born in the Unites States were born prematurely, and in 2016, 17% of infant deaths were due to prematurity and low birthweight.<sup>1</sup> Prematurity places infants at risk for a myriad of growth, metabolic, and neurodevelopmental problems. This may be due, in part, to growth alternations that premature infants exhibit, including increased adiposity, decreased fat-free mass (FFM) gains, and decreased linear growth for the first 2 years of life in comparison to term infants. Weight and length are currently used to evaluate growth and adequacy of nutritional provision in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), but growing evidence suggests that monitoring weight quality is valuable in prevention of adverse metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes. Weight quality can be monitored by assessing body composition or gains in the amount of FFM and fat mass (FM). Unfortunately, very few body composition methods are easily used in the NICU setting.

The goal of nutritional provision in the NICU is to promote growth similar to that of term infants.<sup>2</sup> However, aggressive nutrition may promote increased gains in FM, placing infants at risk for metabolic consequences. Individualized nutritional recommendations or the benefits of "early aggressive nutrition" are debated amongst clinicians, and it is known that composition of diet can affect body composition in premature infants.

This dissertation explores the state of body composition analysis in premature infants in the NICU, beginning with a literature review of the available clinical body composition methods for premature infants in Chapter 2 and continuing with an assessment of the ability of weight for length indices to serve as proxies for body composition from 30-63 weeks corrected age in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 contains results from a study examining the use of ultrasound to assess body composition in the NICU.

In Chapter 5, conclusions from this work and future directions are presented along with preliminary data from continuing studies.

## CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW – CLINICAL APPLICATION OF BODY COMPOSITION METHODS IN PREMATURE INFANTS

\* This chapter has been submitted and is under review for publication at the Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition

#### **CHAPTER SYNOPSIS**

Currently, body composition assessment is not part of the routine clinical evaluation of premature infants, a population at risk for obesity and metabolic disease. Instead, measures of weight and length are used to assess growth in the neonatal intensive care unit but are known to be poor predictors of adiposity shortly after birth. Monitoring whole body composition (total body fat mass and fat-free mass) in preterm infants is essential for optimizing nutrition and promoting growth and neurodevelopment while preventing adverse metabolic outcomes. Therefore, a method which allows clinicians to track whole body composition during hospitalization is desirable. While body composition methods such as magnetic resonance imaging, stable isotope dilution, and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry have been examined in infants, they are invasive, expensive, involve exposure to radiation, and/or are unsuitable for repeated measurements in a medically fragile population. Several body composition methods with potential for clinical use at the bedside have been explored in premature infants, including air displacement plethysmography, bioimpedance, skinfold measurements, and ultrasound. In this review, we examine each method and evaluate feasibility for incorporation into clinical care. While these methods show promise for use in premature infants, further research is needed before they can be recommended for routine body composition measurement in the clinical setting.

#### INTRODUCTION

### Altered growth in premature infants

Premature infants exhibit growth irregularities that may place them at increased risk for obesity and metabolic disease such as decreased fat-free mass (FFM) gains during infancy, increased overall adiposity compared to full term infants at term corrected age, and decreased linear growth for the first two years of life.<sup>3–5</sup> They also undergo an initial period of significant growth restriction followed by a period of "catch-up growth" or accelerated weight gain, resulting in a greater proportion of fat mass (FM) to FFM.<sup>3,5–7</sup> These growth abnormalities are concerning due to correlation with adverse metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes later in life.<sup>8,9</sup> Currently, clinicians use anthropometric measurements such as weight and length to track growth and the adequacy of nutritional support, but these measurements do not adequately represent FM in premature infants, who have greater adiposity than their term counterparts.<sup>3,10,11</sup> Thus, monitoring both quantity and *quality* of weight gain via body composition (BC) assessment may help clinicians to better understand and prevent adverse long term outcomes while simultaneously optimizing growth and neurodevelopment.<sup>12</sup>

#### The case for whole body composition

Clinicians are interested in whole BC assessment to monitor growth response to nutritional intake. A difference in prescribed and actual nutritional intake can negatively impact growth.<sup>5,13–16</sup>Although recommended goals for nutrition exist,<sup>2,16</sup> actual intake in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) varies according to mode of nutritional delivery (enteral versus parenteral) and use of human milk or infant formula. Monitoring whole BC may allow for comparison of macronutrient and micronutrient provision to optimize nutrition for preterm infants.<sup>17–19</sup> Furthermore, tracking BC may help to better define the relationship between early nutrition, nutrient accretion, and growth.<sup>5</sup>

Monitoring whole BC may also assist in assessing metabolic and neurodevelopmental risk. Multiple studies have linked early catch-up growth to later adverse metabolic outcomes such as type 2 diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular disease.<sup>6,20–23</sup> Previously, we found that higher gains in FM during a premature infant's hospitalization are positively associated with blood pressure at 4 years of age.<sup>9</sup> Additionally, we discovered that FFM is a better predictor of neurodevelopmental outcomes than weight, and higher rates of weight gain and FFM in the NICU are associated with improved cognition and faster speed of processing in infancy and at 4 years of age.<sup>8,9</sup> While early catch-up growth in length, FFM, and weight during the first several months of life has been shown to improve neurodevelopmental outcomes of premature infants in many studies, gains in FM have not shown the same benefit.<sup>6,8,22,24</sup> *Evaluation of body composition methods for premature infants* 

Validation of a new BC method typically occurs by comparison with a reference method, an established technique that produces accurate and reliable estimations of BC. Because cadaver analysis is the only way to directly measure BC, every other method relies on assumptions and is subject to error.<sup>25,26</sup> The four-component model of BC, which divides body mass into FM and FFM components of total body water (TBW), bone, and protein is considered the most valid reference model because it includes independently measured components that are estimated by simpler models.<sup>27,28</sup> The four-component model is only feasible in the research setting because it requires multiple tests and infant cooperation.<sup>29</sup> Consequently, evaluation of newer infant BC methods often involves comparison with two- or three-component models that have been validated against three- or four-component models. The two-component model of BC divides the body into FM and FFM and assumes a constant density of FM (0.9007

g/mL) and specific age and sex-specific densities of FFM.<sup>30</sup> The three-component model divides the body into FM and further divides FFM into TBW and dry FFM.<sup>31–33</sup>

### Challenges to assessing body composition in the NICU

Assessment of BC in premature infants is difficult because of the known variability in FFM composition during growth.<sup>34,35</sup> An infant's TBW decreases while bone mineral content increases with increasing postmenstrual age. Compounded with varying fluid status from the intravenous provision of fluids while in the NICU, two-compartment models that do not directly measure TBW may be inaccurate in critically ill infants. Fomon and Butte developed age and sex-specific normative values for TBW and other FFM components which may improve the predictive ability of BC methods that rely on this data, but these values were derived from term infants.<sup>34–36</sup> Similarly, methods that rely upon prediction equations to estimate an infant's thoracic volume are based upon reference data from healthy term infants and may not be accurate for preterm infants with lung disease.<sup>37</sup> Conducting BC assessment in the NICU setting is also challenging due to varying medical stability of infants and the need to coordinate measurements around nursing care.

While magnetic resonance imaging (MRI),<sup>29</sup> isotope dilution techniques, quantitative MRI, and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA)<sup>29,38-40</sup> have been studied in premature infants, these techniques are not suitable for repeated clinical use because they involve exposure to ionizing radiation, are expensive, require medical stability, and/or are not feasible outside the research setting. These methods have been extensively reviewed elsewhere<sup>12,29,41</sup> and will not be discussed in our review. The BC methods of air displacement plethysmography, bioimpedance, skinfold measurements, and ultrasound show promise for repeated clinical use in premature infants. Here, we examine each method and its potential for clinical application.

### Air displacement plethysmography (ADP)

Only one device, the Pea Pod (Cosmed, Inc., California), is currently available to conduct ADP measurements in preterm infants. The Pea Pod determines percent body fat (%BF) through body measurements, gas laws, and Fomon's<sup>34</sup> or Butte's<sup>35</sup> age and sex specific densities for FFM as described elsewhere.<sup>42–44</sup> ADP estimates of BC rely on the Pea Pod's algorithms to account for hydration status in infancy<sup>37,45</sup> and estimation of functional residual capacity estimates to account for thoracic volume. The validity of measurements also relies upon accuracy of length measurements.

ADP exhibits excellent accuracy when evaluated against direct analysis of bovine phantoms<sup>46</sup> and superior reliability over repeated measurements<sup>43</sup> and has been validated against the four-compartment model in term infants.<sup>47</sup> Two studies to assess accuracy and precision have been conducted in premature infants (**Table 1**), but the effects of covariates such as weight, length, and sex on regression models were not examined in either study. Forsum showed moderate accuracy in %BF using ADP compared to a three-component method.<sup>37,45</sup> No bias was detected. However, ADP overestimated low FFM densities and underestimated high FFM densities.<sup>45</sup> The other study by Roggero compared BC via ADP to that obtained via stable isotope dilution studies and found good reliability, precision, and accuracy for %BF measured via ADP and H<sub>2</sub><sup>18</sup>O dilution. No bias was detected as %BF increased.<sup>19</sup>

Whether ADP can provide useful information in the acute care setting is partially dependent upon its ability to detect clinically relevant changes through longitudinal measurements of BC. In our previous work, we found that ADP is sensitive enough to detect a 30-45 gram change in FFM (~3% change) in measurements taken one week apart.<sup>8</sup> ADP can also detect differences in %BF of premature infants over a three to four week period.<sup>48</sup>

ADP is attractive for use in the clinical setting because it is non-invasive, reliable, and relatively easy for clinicians to use. Measurements of ADP are unaffected by crying and moderate movement, making it an appropriate tool for use in infants.<sup>29,43,47</sup> Another advantage of this method is the potential for use of ADP-based BC reference charts to monitor growth.<sup>49,50</sup> Tracking premature infants on these charts while monitoring clinical outcomes may help to determine if current nutritional and growth standards are appropriate.

The cost of the Pea Pod may preclude routine use in the NICU, and it is best suited for healthy infants with clinically stable respiratory status, weight between 1 and 10 kg, and independence from a central line.<sup>44</sup> These criteria prevent use of ADP in infants who are critically ill, such as premature neonates on ventilators and those receiving parenteral nutrition.

#### Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA)

BIA measures BC indirectly through the resistive properties of an electrical current in the body with the assumption that lean tissue produces low resistance because of its high fluid content, while adipose tissue and bone yield a greater level of resistance as a result of low fluid content.<sup>51,52</sup> Bioimpedance data can be collected using single-frequency (SF), multi-frequency (MF), or spectroscopy devices (BIS).<sup>53</sup> From bioimpedance data, TBW, extracellular and intracellular fluid (ECF, ICF), FM, FFM, and other lean tissue compartments can be estimated using mathematical modeling and prediction equations, depending on the approach.<sup>51</sup>

SF-BIA and MF-BIA rely on assumptions of body shape, uniform conduction of the electric current, and use of population-specific equations that are dependent on factors such as age, gender, and ethnicity, in order to generate BC or volume estimates.<sup>53,54</sup> Use of SF-BIA and MF-BIA, which rely on stable hydration status, is

challenging in the neonatal population.<sup>51</sup> TBW relative to total body mass changes throughout infancy, beginning at around 80.6% at birth and decreasing to 78.8% (females) and 79% (males) at one year of age, which has implications for the measurement of specific tissue, specifically FFM.<sup>34</sup> TBW may also depend on weight for gestational age, with small for gestational age infants having a greater body water content than appropriate for gestational age infants.<sup>55</sup> Therefore, the hydration constants for FFM used to estimate TBW in conjunction with SF- and MF-BIA equations may not be appropriate for use in a growing infant.

BIS devices, which measure impedance over a wide range of frequencies, are more promising for use because they do not rely on population-specific prediction equations.<sup>56</sup> However, the use of curvilinear modeling and mixture theory-based algorithms to determine TBW by spectroscopy requires inclusion of shape and density constants and resistivity coefficients, which represent the resistivity of extra- and intracellular fluid compartments to an electric current.<sup>56,57</sup> As a result of substantial variation in resistivity among infants, preterm infants require unique coefficients for accurate assessment of TBW, but they may only be suitable for population level estimates of TBW.<sup>56,58,59</sup> Infant movement and proximity of measurements to feeding times have also been shown to impact spectroscopy data, specifically extracellular resistance measurements.<sup>60</sup>

Multiple studies have concluded that SF-BIA data minimally improves prediction equations for whole BC beyond weight, length, and sex and that SF-BIA data is not more advantageous than weight for determination of FFM in preterm and term infants.<sup>59,61</sup> Nevertheless, additional research into bioimpedance approaches for BC assessment is warranted because of advantages such as suitability for non-invasive serial measurements. BIA may be used in critically ill infants despite requiring central lines,

respiratory support, and continuous monitoring of vitals.<sup>62</sup> However, if infants have not achieved fluid balance, SF- and MF-BIA estimates of BC may be inaccurate. BIS devices may be more appropriate for use in critically ill preterm infants because they employ spectral data modeling to determine ECF and ICF and thus, are not dependent on the assumption of fluid balance. However, several constants used in standard BIS algorithms are based on adult data and may result in errors in whole BC estimates when applied to infants.

#### Skinfold Measurements

Measurements of skinfold thickness (SFT) have been proposed to estimate BC in infants (**Table 2.1**). Multiple measurements taken at various body sites using calipers are then associated with whole body FM using prediction equations.<sup>63</sup> While these measurements are inexpensive, noninvasive, and do not involve exposure to radiation, they may not reflect whole body fat in older infants because they assess only subcutaneous adipose tissue.<sup>29,64</sup> Furthermore, the use of calipers is controversial in medically fragile preterm infants, and repeated, accurate measurements may be difficult to obtain because of an infant's small body size and sensitive skin.<sup>65</sup> SFT measurements can be influenced by fluid status<sup>65</sup>, type of caliper used,<sup>66,67</sup> and amount of time the caliper is applied to the skin.<sup>68,69</sup>

A validated prediction equation is needed for clinicians to use SFT to determine BC. Several have been proposed, but most are derived from models developed in other clinical populations and may not be appropriate for use in premature infants.<sup>63,70,71</sup> Many existing prediction equations also require SFT measurements at multiple sites, which may be difficult to obtain in preterm infants. Of note, SFT measurements likely have lower intra- and inter-rater reliability than the other methods reviewed here, unless conducted by a single trained individual.<sup>66</sup>

A well-known model developed in preterm and term infants by Dauncey includes subscapular and triceps skinfold measurements and nine body measurements and has good agreement with published data from cadaver analysis.<sup>69</sup> Although not validated in preterm infants, some consider it the best method for accurate determination of BC in this population despite its complexity.<sup>65</sup>

Other attempts to develop and validate prediction equations using SFT have been met with mixed success,<sup>64,72,73</sup> likely due to the variety in model development and validation populations and the BC methods against which SFT measurements are compared. While some equations demonstrate good correlation with whole BC measured using ADP or DXA,<sup>63</sup> others have yielded insufficient correlation for calculation of individual BC and unacceptable levels of systematic error.

Four prediction equations for estimating whole body FM in term infants using SFT were recently developed by Deierlein, Catalano, Lingwood, and Aris.<sup>59,74–76</sup> While all equations include covariates such as weight, length, and gender, it is unknown whether the covariates alone can predict body composition. When compared to ADP-measured whole body FM obtained at birth, all equations except for the Catalano model yield significantly different FM. Bias was noted for the Catalano and Lingwood equations, indicating that they overestimated FM at lower FM values and underestimated FM at greater FM values. At 3 months of age, none of the equations accurately predict whole body FM in comparison to ADP-derived measurements. Bias was noted for all equations, with the Deierlein equation overestimating FM at all values and the other three equations overestimating FM at lower FM values and underestimating FM at higher FM values.<sup>77</sup>

While more research is needed to develop and validate prediction equations for use of SFT to assess BC in premature infants, this method may be most appropriate for

the global health care setting because of low cost and accessibility. Measurements may be affected by factors such as race and sex, making it important to develop and validate population-specific equations.<sup>78,79</sup>

#### Ultrasound

Ultrasound is a developing method for assessment of whole BC in infants and employs high-frequency sound waves to produce an image of the tissue of interest. Images are analyzed for either adipose tissue and muscle thickness (or cross-sectional area), which is then correlated with whole body FM or FFM generated by established BC methods.<sup>80–82</sup> Ultrasound is not routinely utilized for assessing BC in any clinical population, but several studies have shown a correlation between adipose and muscle measurements obtained using ultrasound and established BC methods in adults and adolescents.<sup>83–88</sup> A few of these studies have also generated prediction equations for whole body FM or FFM using ultrasound measurements.<sup>89–92</sup>

Ultrasound assessment of BC has been minimally explored in infants. Only cross-sectional area has been correlated with whole BC; the cross-sectional area of calf adipose tissue correlates with whole body FM (r = 0.67) measured via DXA in premature infants.<sup>93</sup> However, ultrasound has yet to be validated against reference methods appropriate for premature infants.

Ultrasound, a non-invasive tool that involves no ionizing radiation, is readily available in the clinical setting and can be quickly performed at the bedside in critically ill infants. Ultrasound has good reliability in adult populations<sup>94</sup> but appears to have variable reliability in premature infants, although data are limited.<sup>95</sup> The pressure at which the ultrasound transducer is applied affects the measurement of tissues and therefore, the precision of measurements.<sup>82,96</sup> Care must be taken to use consistent compression during measurement, though no universal method has been developed for

this purpose. The consistent identification of measurement sites may be difficult in a rapidly growing infant, and inconsistencies may impair comparison of longitudinal measurements. Refinement of ultrasound techniques, including development of a standardized protocol for use in premature infants, would greatly assist in addressing these issues. If able to accurately estimate FM, ultrasound would represent the only clinical BC assessment method with the potential to assess a patient from birth through adulthood.

#### DISCUSSION

The inclusion of BC assessment in clinical evaluation has the potential to provide a better understanding of growth in premature infants. All methods discussed (**Table 2.2**) show promise for clinical use and should be further explored. However, none are fourcomponent models, and the limitations of each must be considered when choosing the best method for use in the clinical setting. ADP, which has been validated against the four-component model in term infants and compared with the three-component model in preterm infants, is currently the most accurate and reliable method for assessing body composition in preterm infants. ADP, however, requires a costly device, and infants are not eligible for measurement unless they are medically stable. BIA and SFT have been compared with the two-component model but need refinement for routine use in the clinical setting. Whole BC via ultrasound has not been validated against two- or three-component models, but we felt it warranted discussion due to its potential use in critically ill infants.

Moving forward, the first step in identifying a clinically relevant, bedside BC modality in preterm infants is the evaluation of one-time measurements. This must be followed by an assessment of the method's ability to detect longitudinal changes in whole BC, which is important to provide meaningful information for routine clinical

monitoring. Once a bedside modality is proven effective for longitudinal measures, regular assessment of BC in response to nutritional provision can be conducted. Routine monitoring may facilitate the development of new nutritional recommendations for healthy and critically ill premature infants that promote gains in FFM and reduce adiposity. Achieving such BC changes could ultimately decrease the risk for childhood obesity and metabolic disease later in life while simultaneously optimizing neurodevelopmental outcomes.

Method	Model Comparisons	Precision	Accuracy	Conclusion
ADP	4-component model isotope dilution, total body potassium counting, DXA Ellis <sup>47</sup> : 49 term infants	7.9% CV; mean bias 0.4%BF for repeated ADP tests (non- significant)	%BF Mean bias 0.6 ± 3.7% (non-significant); LOA:- 6.8 and 8.1%	%BF via ADP slightly but not significantly higher than 4C model
	<b>3-component</b> <b>model</b> <u>isotope dilution;</u> <u>Siri's equation</u> Forsum <sup>45</sup> : 14 premature infants	Not done	%BF Mean bias 1.00 ± 2.91% (non-significant); LOA: -6.8 and 4.8%	%BF via ADP slightly but not significantly higher than 3C model
	<b>2-component</b> model isotope dilution Roggero <sup>19</sup> : 57 preterm infants (precision); 10 preterm infants (accuracy)	Mean bias 0.15%BF for repeated ADP tests (non- significant)	%BF Mean bias 0.32 ± 1.57%; LOA: -3.4% and 2.76%	%BF via ADP slightly but not significantly lower than 3C model
BIS	2- component model <u>ADP</u> *Lingwood <sup>59</sup> : 72 term infants at birth; 54 term infants at 6 weeks	Not done	<ul> <li>%BF</li> <li>Mean bias 1.2-1.9%; LOA: -9.5 to 10.5%</li> <li>%FFM</li> <li>Birth: Mean bias 1.5%</li> <li>6 weeks: Mean bias 2.6%</li> <li>LOA 200-600 grams (6-13% error)</li> </ul>	BIA did not improve prediction of %BF or %FFM.
BIA-SF	2- component model <u>ADP</u> *Tint <sup>97</sup> : 57 term infants at birth; 46 at 2 weeks	Not done	%FFM Birth: Mean bias 0.7%; LOA: 7.9 and -5.8% 2 weeks: mean bias 0.3%; LOA: -7.1% and 6.4%	Inclusion of BIA only slightly improved prediction of %FFM, but BIA has limited use in predicting FFM in first weeks of life

# Table 2.1: Precision and Accuracy of Body Composition Methods in Infants

SFT	DXA *Dung <sup>61</sup> : 51 male, 67 female preterm neonates	Not done	%FFM Males: mean bias 0.10%; 95% Cl: -1.2 and 1.42% Females: mean bias - 0.81%; 95% Cl: -2.4 and 0.84%	Weight outperformed BIA as predictor of FFM
	2- component model <u>ADP</u> *Aris <sup>76</sup> : 262 term neonates	Triceps SFT: Male ICC: 0.994 Female ICC: 0.997 Subscapular SFT: Boys ICC: 0.996 Girls ICC: 0.997	<i>FM (kg)</i> Subscapular SFT: R <sup>2</sup> =0.811; mean bias 0.003 kg (p>0.05); LOA: -0.25 and 0.26 kg	Prediction equation explained 81.1% of variance; potential use in Asian neonates
	*Cauble <sup>77</sup> : 95 term infants at birth; 65 term infants at 3 months; tested Deierlein, Catalano, Lingwood, and Aris prediction equations	ICC: 0.83 to 0.96; TEM: 0.23 to 0.34	<i>FM (kg)</i> Birth: Deierlein: Mean bias 0.114 kg; LOA: -0.010 and 0.328 kg Catalano: Mean bias - 0.012 kg; LOA: -0.240 and 0.215 kg Lingwood: Mean bias -0.045 kg; LOA: -0.272 and 0.183 kg Aris: Mean bias -0.034 kg; LOA: -0.245 and 0.176 kg 3 months: Deierlein: Mean bias 3.325 kg; LOA: 1.789 and -4.862 kg Catalano: Mean bias - 0.271 kg; LOA: -0.871 and 0.328 kg Lingwood: Mean bias -0.286 kg; LOA: -0.871 and 0.299 kg Aris: Mean bias -0.230 kg; LOA: -0.824 and 0.363 kg	Poor precision and accuracy for all prediction equations. FM via prediction equations had poor agreement with ADP measures of FM.

SFT	Daly-Wolfe <sup>98</sup> : 28 preterm infants; 28 term infants	All measurements within 3 mm	% <i>BF</i> Midarm circumference (MAC) and suprailiac SFT: $R^2 = 0.49$ (preterm); 0.41 (term); p< 0.001 MAC: $R^2=0.604$ (preterm); p=0.008 Mid-thigh circumference: $R^2 = 0.63$ ; p<0.001	MAC and suprailiac SFT may be accurate and reliable methods to measure adiposity in preterm and term infants.
			(term)	
	Deierlein <sup>74</sup> : 128 term infants	All SFT measurements within 2 mm	<i>FM (kg)</i> Sum of triceps, subscapular, thigh SFT: R <sup>2</sup> = 0.81; p<0.0001; RMSE =0.08 kg	Prediction equation including sum of SFT explained 81% of variance
	Lingwood <sup>59</sup> : 72 term infants at birth; 65 term infants at 6 weeks	Not done	%BF Triceps and subscapular SFT yielded large mean bias at birth and 6 weeks	SFT did not improve prediction of %BF at any age
			Underestimation of %BF by 2.4-8.9%	
	<u>Total body</u> <u>electrical</u> <u>conductivity</u> ( <u>TOBEC</u> ) *Catalano <sup>75</sup> : 194 term neonates; compared new model to Dauncey's model and TOBEC- estimated FM	CV% = <7% for SFT	<i>FM (g)</i> Catalano: (weight, length, flank SFT): $R^2 =$ 0.84; p=0.0001 Dauncey model: $R^2 =$ 0.54; p=0.0001	No significant difference (p=0.11) between FM via Catalano model and TOBEC in infants at birth.

5F1	DXA *Schmelzle <sup>63</sup> : 104 term and preterm infants at 0, 2, and 4 months	96% of intraindividual variation was within 5% range of variation	<i>FM (g)</i> Sum of triceps, biceps, suprailiac, and subscapular SFT: Mean bias: $\leq 500 \text{ g}$ : 75 g 500-1000 g: 170 g 1001-2000: 300 g >2000 g: 370 g R <sup>2</sup> = 0.95; p<0.001	SFT can be used to obtain rough estimate of FM in infants but should be paired with another body composition method to improve accuracy.
	<u>Isotope dilution</u> *Sen <sup>99</sup> : 46 term infants between 6-24 months	Not done	%BF Biceps, triceps SFT: Mean bias -0.93%; 95%CL: -2.03, 3.89 (females) Biceps, suprailiac SFT Mean bias 1.14%; 95% CL: -0.26, 2.54 (males)	Relatively wide LOA observed; Sen prediction equation may be useful for group- level comparisons of %BF in infants
	Sheng <sup>100</sup> : 16 preterm infants at birth	Not done	<i>FM (g)</i> Subscapular SFT: r=0.78 <i>BF%</i> Subscapular SFT: r=0.61	Subscapular SFT performed best for assessment of FM
US	2- component model <u>DXA</u> Ahmad <sup>93</sup> : 102 preterm and term infants	Not done	<i>FM (g)</i> Calf cross-sectional area r=0.82 <i>Lean Mass (g)</i> r=0.81	US measurements of calf cross- sectional area may be useful in obtaining information about FM in premature infants.

**Table 1**. Summary of studies on the precision and accuracy of body composition methods. %BF, percent body fat, %CV, percent coefficient of variation; 4C, four-component model; 3C, three-component model; ADP, air displacement plethysmography; BIA-SF, single-frequency bioimpedance analysis; BIS, bioimpedance spectroscopy; CI, 95% confidence interval; CL, 95% confidence limits; DXA, dual energy x-ray absorptiometry; FM, fat mass; ICC, intraclass correlation coefficient; LOA, Bland Altman 95% Limits of Agreement; MAC, midarm circumference; SFT, skin fold thickness, TEM, technical error of measurement \*validation study

Method	Validated in Preterm Infants?	Advantages	Disadvantages	Suggested Use
ADP	Yes	<ul> <li>Non-invasive</li> <li>No radiation</li> <li>Unaffected by movement/crying</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1-10 kg weight limit</li> <li>Infants must be on room air</li> <li>No central line</li> <li>Expensive</li> <li>Not for critically ill infants</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Medically stable infants</li> <li>NICU or outpatient clinic settings</li> </ul>
BIA	No	<ul> <li>Non-invasive</li> <li>No radiation</li> <li>Can be performed at bedside</li> <li>Appropriate for critically ill infants (BIS)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires population specific information</li> <li>May require stable hydration status</li> <li>Sensitive to infant movement</li> <li>May be affected by feeds</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Medically stable infants with balanced hydration status (BIS)</li> <li>NICU or outpatient clinic settings</li> </ul>
SFT	No	<ul> <li>Minimally invasive</li> <li>No radiation</li> <li>Can be performed at bedside</li> <li>Inexpensive</li> <li>Appropriate for critically ill infants</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No consensus protocol</li> <li>Influenced by fluid status, caliper type, length of measurement</li> <li>Low reliability with multiple observers</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Medically stable infants</li> <li>Outpatient clinic setting</li> <li>Global healthcare setting</li> </ul>
US	No	<ul> <li>Non-invasive</li> <li>No radiation</li> <li>Can be performed at bedside</li> <li>Appropriate for critically ill infants</li> <li>Available at most hospitals</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No validated protocol</li> <li>Affected by tissue compression</li> <li>Consistent measurements may be difficult</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Critically ill or medically stable infants</li> <li>NICU or outpatient clinic settings</li> <li>Potential for use in the global healthcare setting</li> </ul>

## Table 2.2: Evaluation of Body Composition Methods for Bedside Assessment of Preterm Infants

**Table 2.** Advantages and disadvantages of body composition methods used to assess preterm infants. ADP, air displacementplethysmography; BIA, bioimpedance analysis; BIS, bioimpedance spectroscopy; NICU, neonatal intensive care unit; SFT, skin fold thickness;US, ultrasound

## CHAPTER 3: ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES DO NOT ADEQUATELY REFLECT ADIPOSITY IN PRETERM INFANTS FROM 30-63 WEEKS CORRECTED GESTATIONAL AGE

#### CHAPTER SYNOPSIS

**Background**: Growth in premature infants is currently assessed through measures of weight and length, but weight/length indices such as body mass index are known to be poor surrogates for adiposity shortly after birth. Whether these indices can predict body composition later in infancy is unknown. Should they prove to be adequate surrogates for body composition, weight/length indices could be used to assess weight quality in premature infants, potentially improving growth and guiding nutritional provision.

**Objective**: To determine the ability of weight/length indices to predict adiposity in premature infants from 28-63 weeks corrected gestational age.

**Methods**: Data from 260 preterm infants and 95 term infants was compiled from three studies conducted at the University of Minnesota's Neonatal Intensive Care Unit from 2010-2019. Whole body fat mass and fat-free mass and percent body fat were obtained using air displacement plethysmography beginning when infants were medically stable and continuing through 63 weeks corrected gestational age. Weight, length, weight/length, body mass index, and ponderal index were assessed for their ability to predict fat mass, fat-free mass, and percent body fat in four age groups. Fat mass and fat-free mass index were examined as secondary outcomes. The predictive ability of weight/length indices was also compared in preterm infants < 32 and  $\geq$  32 to 36 + 6 weeks gestational age at birth. Finally, predictive ability of indices was compared in preterm infants at term-equivalent age and term infants. The best proxy for whole body composition was determined by selection of the linear regression model with the highest variance explained (R<sup>2</sup>) and lowest root mean square error (RMSE).

**Results**: BMI was the best predictor of percent body fat for the first three age groups but resulted in poorly fitting models with low variance explained ( $R^2 = 0.34-0.35$ ) and high prediction errors (RMSE = 3.21-4.01). Weight for length was the best predictor of %BF for the oldest age group, but also exhibited low variance explained ( $R^2 = 0.13$ ) and high prediction error (RMSE = 4.41). Weight was the strongest predictor of fat-free mass across all age groups ( $R^2 = 0.81-0.94$ ; RMSE = 0.06-0.30).

**Conclusions**: None of the weight/length indices examined accurately represented adiposity in preterm infants. Weight/length indices cannot be used to assess adiposity in premature infants through 63 weeks corrected gestational age.

### INTRODUCTION

Clinicians are interested in the quality of weight premature infants gain in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) because of the relationship between body composition and metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes. Weight quality can be assessed by monitoring changes in fat mass (FM) and fat-free mass (FFM) as infants grow. In comparison with term infants, premature infants exhibit decreased FFM gains, decreased linear growth, and increased relative adiposity at term corrected age.<sup>3–6</sup> They also experience a period of rapid growth or "catch-up growth", which may increase their risk for later insulin resistance, obesity, and cardiovascular disease.<sup>22,101–103</sup> While greater FM gains after NICU discharge until four months of age are associated with increased blood pressure at four years of age,<sup>9</sup> gains in FFM (but not FM) are associated with improved neurodevelopmental outcomes.<sup>24,104</sup>

The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends nutritional goals aimed at helping preterm infants achieve growth equal to that of term infants of the same corrected age.<sup>105</sup> Better nutrition support is associated with improved growth and neurodevelopmental outcomes in multiple studies. <sup>8,106–109</sup> However, assessing an infant's response to nutrition support is currently limited by the available growth metrics of weight and length. Despite the known relationship between early body composition and later outcomes, body composition is not routinely measured in the NICU because of the limitations of currently available tools. Many methods are expensive, invasive, or unsuitable for repeated measurements in a medically fragile population. The use of simple weight for length (W/L) indices to assess body composition would provide a fast and non-invasive way to assess a premature infant's quality of weight gain in response to nutritional provision in the NICU, regardless of medical stability. Due to growth irregularities, assessing proportionality of growth in preterm infants is also desirable. <sup>110</sup>
Ponderal index (PI) and body mass index (BMI) have been proposed as proxies for infant adiposity or percent body fat (%BF). In healthy term infants, neither PI or BMI can accurately predict %BF.<sup>111</sup> In preterm infants, BMI is a better predictor of proportionality than PI, and gender-specific BMI curves for preterm infants have been created and validated.<sup>110,112</sup>

Previously, we examined W/L indices (weight, length, W/L, BMI, PI) of preterm infants shortly after birth (within 72 hours) and found that none of the indices examined accurately reflected %BF.<sup>10</sup> Whether BMI is predictive of adiposity in preterm infants later in infancy is unknown. Thus, in this study, we aimed to determine if W/L indices are predictive of FFM, FM, or %BF in preterm infants at various timepoints after the first week of life, including 28 to 33 weeks corrected gestational age (CGA), 34 to 36 weeks CGA, 37 to 42 weeks CGA, and 50 to 63 weeks CGA.

## **METHODS**

Data from 355 infants (preterm = 260 infants; term = 95 infants) recruited from the University of Minnesota's Neonatal Intensive Care Unit between 2010-2019 were included in this study. Study inclusion criteria included birth between < 32 to 36 + 6 weeks gestational age (GA), medical and respiratory stability, and independence from central lines at time of measurement. Infants with medical conditions (other than prematurity) known to affect growth or adiposity were excluded. All measurements were taken  $\geq$  7 days after birth.

The Pea Pod (Cosmed, Ltd, Concord, California) was used to evaluate body composition by air displacement plethysmography (ADP). The Pea Pod's operating procedures have been described elsewhere.<sup>43–46</sup> Briefly, a recumbent length board was used to measure each infant's length to the nearest 0.1 cm. Naked weight to the nearest

0.0001 kg was obtained using the Pea Pod's electronic scale followed by an approximately 2-minute body volume measurement in the device's test chamber. The body volume measurement, the known density of fat (0.9007 g/mL), and Fomon's<sup>34</sup> or Butte's<sup>35</sup> age and sex specific densities for FFM were then used by the Pea Pod's software to calculate %BF. Weight and length z-scores were calculated using the Fenton<sup>113</sup> growth charts for preterm infants until 50 weeks CGA, while the World Health Organization (WHO) growth charts<sup>114</sup> were used for preterm infants  $\geq$  50 weeks CGA and for term infants. All measurements were taken by a consistent study team.

## Statistical Analysis

For preterm infants, anthropometric and body composition measurements were divided into four groups based upon the CGA at which they were obtained:  $\leq$  33 weeks corrected CGA (group one), 34 to 36 weeks CGA (group two), 37 to 42 weeks CGA (group 3), and 43 to 63 weeks CGA (group four). Since measurements were taken longitudinally during an infant's NICU stay, some infants had measurements in all CGA groups and others had multiple measurements within the same CGA group. If multiple measurements from an infant were present in the same CGA group, the measurement taken closest to the midpoint of the CGA group was selected.

The relationship between W/L indices and primary outcomes of FFM, FM, and %BF and secondary outcomes of FFM/L<sup>2</sup> (FFMI) and FM/L<sup>2</sup> (FMI) were examined by CGA group using linear regression analysis. Weight, length, W/L, BMI (W/L<sup>2</sup>), and PI (W/L<sup>3</sup>) were assessed as predictors. To ascertain whether gestational age at birth affected the prediction of our outcomes, we further compared the predictive ability of W/L indices in preterm infants born < 32 weeks and  $\geq$  32 to 36 + 6 weeks gestational age. Finally, to examine differences in predictive ability between preterm infants at term-

equivalent age and term infants, we compared W/L indices in the last two CGA groups combined. Random effects models were used to account for the correlation between repeated measurements. The best proxy for whole body composition was the linear regression model with the highest variance explained ( $R^2$ ) and lowest root mean square error (RMSE). To account for the number of models examined, p-values are two sided with p < .00025 considered statistically significant. SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina) was used to perform statistical analyses.

## RESULTS

Characteristics of infant participants are described by CGA group in Table 3.1. Infants in the youngest CGA group had mean GA of 29.25 weeks, were 41% male, and 16% white, while preterm infants in the oldest CGA group had mean GA of 28.81 weeks, were 53% male, and 6% white. Infants in the youngest CGA group had the lowest mean %BF (8%), while preterm infants in the oldest CGA group had the highest mean %BF (22.9%).

Table 3.2 shows the relationship between the predictors of weight, length, W/L, BMI, PI and the outcomes of FFM, FM, and %BF by CGA group. All W/L indices in each of the four CGA groups were significantly correlated with FM except for PI in CGA group four. BMI was most strongly correlated with FM in CGA groups one and two, while W/L was most strongly correlated with FM in CGA groups three and four. Weight, W/L, and BMI were significantly correlated with %BF in all CGA groups, but length exhibited significant correlation only for CGA group one, and PI was significantly correlated only in CGA groups one, two, and three. BMI was most strongly correlated with %BF (r = 0.58) in groups one through three, while W/L was most strongly correlated with %BF in group four (r = 0.43). Weight, length, W/L, and BMI were significantly correlated with FM across all CGA groups, but PI was only significantly correlated with FM in group one. Weight was most strongly correlated with FFM across all CGA groups.

The *R*<sup>2</sup> and RMSE of models examined in linear regression analyses are shown according to CGA group in Table 3.3. BMI was the best predictor of %BF for CGA groups one, two, and three (**Figure 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3**), while W/L was the best predictor of %BF for the oldest CGA group (**Figure 3.4**). Large prediction errors were observed for W/L indices and %BF across all CGA groups. BMI was the best predictor of FM for the first two CGA groups, while W/L was the best predictor for CGA group three, and weight was the best predictor for the oldest CGA groups.

For our secondary analyses, BMI was a moderate predictor of FMI for the first three CGA groups, while all W/L indices were weak predictors of FMI for the oldest CGA group (**Table 3.4**). BMI was a strong predictor of FFMI for all CGA groups but generally decreased as preterm infants grew older.

The ability of W/L indices to predict %BF in preterm infants < 32 weeks GA at birth and  $\geq$  32-36 + 6 weeks GA at birth is shown in Table 3.5. All W/L indices were significant predictors of %BF (p <.0001). For all W/L indices except for PI, GA at birth (< 32 weeks or  $\geq$  32 weeks) was a significant predictor of %BF. A significant interaction between GA and W/L indices was present for all indices except for PI. Sex was not a significant predictor of %BF.

The relationship between W/L indices and %BF for preterm infants at termequivalent age versus term infants is shown in Table 3.6. All W/L indices were significant predictors of %BF. For all W/L indices, term status was a significant predictor of %BF,

while sex was not a significant predictor. A significant interaction between term status and W/L indices was present for all models.

Variable <sup>a</sup>	CGA Group 1 (n=74)	CGA Group 2 (n=175)	CGA Group 3		CGA G	iroup 4
			Preterm	Term	Preterm	Term
Characteristics			(n=113)	(n=70)	(n=111)	(n=95)
GA at birth (weeks)	29.25 ± 1.78	30.09 ± 2.79	28.74 ± 2.89	39.3 ± 0.78	28.81 ± 3.01	39.76 ± 1.04
Birthweight (g)	1238 ± 258.4	1434 ± 498.0	1185 ± 471.4	3466 ± 435.7	1207 ± 0.48	3543 ± 0.46
Birthweight z-score <sup>b</sup>	$0.03 \pm 0.68$	0.02 ± 0.67	-0.10 ± 0.84	$0.33 \pm 0.87^{\circ}$	-0.06 ± 0.87	0.49 ± 0.91°
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.04 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.01	0.09 ± 0.01
BMI (kg/m2)	9.37 ± 1.09	11.36 ± 1.08	13.37 ± 1.37	13.71 ± 1.01	16.81 ± 1.86	15.68 ± 1.69
PI (kg/m3)	23.37 ± 1.96	26.04 ± 2.55	28.55 ± 2.90	26.10 ± 1.98	27.80 ± 4.01	26.46 ± 2.24
Sex (male)	30 (40.54%)	89 (50.86%)	62 (54.87%)	35 (50.00%)	59 (53.15%)	47 (49.47%)
Race (white)	12 (16.22%)	64 (37.14%)	32 (28.32%)	57 (81.43%)	7 (6.31%)	78 (82.11%)
Body Composition						
CGA (weeks)	32.27 ± 1.20	35.15 ± 0.80	38.85 ± 1.45	41.74 ± 0.79	57.04 ± 3.45	50.21 ± 4.07
Body Mass (kg)	1.52 ± 0.32	2.17 ± 0.32	2.97 ± 0.54	3.80 ± 0.38	6.24 ± 1.03	5.58 ± 1.14
Length (cm)	40.03 ± 2.08	43.67 ± 2.13	46.94 ± 2.96	52.59 ± 1.58	60.82 ± 4.25	59.27 ± 3.80
Body fat (%)	8.03 ± 3.93	12.45 ± 4.71	18.23 ± 4.91	14.57 ± 3.90	22.87 ± 4.87	22.12 ± 6.78
Fat mass (kg)	$0.13 \pm 0.09$	0.28 ± 0.13	0.55 ± 0.20	0.56 ± 0.18	1.45 ± 0.46	1.29 ± 0.59
Fat-free mass (kg)	1.39 ± 0.26	1.90 ± 0.26	2.42 ± 0.41	3.24 ± 0.30	4.77 ± 0.70	4.28 ± 0.64

Table 3.1: Infant descriptive characteristics and body composition by corrected age at measurement

<sup>a</sup>Continuous variables expressed as mean ± SD or *n* (%) <sup>b</sup>Fenton z-score; <sup>c</sup>WHO z-score

BMI, body mass index; CGA, corrected gestational age; GA, gestational age at birth; PI, ponderal index

Group 1: 28-33 weeks CGA; Group 2: 34-36 weeks CGA; Group 3: 37-42 weeks CGA; Group 4: 43-65 weeks CGA

Predictor	Fat mass	Body fat (%)	Fat-free mass
<u>CGA Group 1 (n=74)</u>			
Weight (kg)	*0.753	*0.536	*0.972
Length (cm)	*0.580	*0.394	*0.913
Weight/length (kg/m)	*0.774	*0.562	*0.954
BMI (kg/m²)	*0.782	*0.585	*0.888
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	*0.688	*0.541	*0.637
<u>CGA Group 2 (n=175)</u>			
Weight (kg)	*0.608	*0.355	*0.924
Length (cm)	*0.208	-0.029	*0.842
Weight/length (kg/m)	*0.700	*0.478	*0.830
BMI (kg/m²)	*0.729	*0.585	*0.575
PI (kg/m³)	*0.602	*0.580	0.148
<u>CGA Group 3 (n=113)</u>			
Weight (kg)	*0.756	*0.402	*0.947
Length (cm)	*0.480	0.134	*0.872
Weight/length (kg/m)	*0.812	*0.497	*0.877
BMI (kg/m²)	*0.776	*0.581	*0.618
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	*0.485	*0.504	0.090
<u>CGA Group 4 (n=111)</u>			
Weight (kg)	*0.759	*0.412	*0.902
Length (cm)	*0.538	*0.204	*0.812
Weight/length (kg/m)	*0.723	*0.434	*0.781
BMI (kg/m²)	*0.470	*0.360	*0.362
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.080	0.177	-0.157

Table 3.2: Pearson's correlation coefficients for predictors and outcomes in 260 preterm infants by corrected gestational age at measurement

\*indicates significance at p < .05 BMI, body mass index; CGA, corrected gestational age; PI, ponderal index; RMSE, root mean square error

	Body	fat (%)	Fat r	nass	Fat-fre	e mass
Predictor	R <sup>2</sup>	RMSE	R <sup>2</sup>	RMSE	R <sup>2</sup>	RMSE
CGA Group 1 (n=74)						
Weight (kg)	0.288	3.338	0.567	0.058	0.944	0.063
Length (cm)	0.155	3.636	0.336	0.072	0.834	0.108
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.316	3.271	0.599	0.056	0.911	0.079
BMI (kg/m²)	0.342	3.209	0.612	0.055	0.788	0.123
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.293	3.325	0.473	0.064	0.406	0.205
<u>CGA Group 2 (n=175)</u>						
Weight (kg)	0.126	4.419	0.369	0.101	0.854	0.100
Length (cm)	0.001	4.726	0.043	0.124	0.709	0.141
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.229	4.151	0.489	0.090	0.689	0.146
BMI (kg/m²)	0.346	3.824	0.534	0.086	0.327	0.214
PI (kg/m³)	0.339	3.843	0.364	0.101	0.021	0.259
<u>CGA Group 3 (n=113)</u>						
Weight (kg)	0.161	4.513	0.572	0.132	0.897	0.132
Length (cm)	0.018	4.884	0.223	0.178	0.761	0.202
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.248	4.275	0.656	0.118	0.769	0.198
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.337	4.012	0.598	0.128	0.381	0.325
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.254	4.257	0.228	0.177	0.008	0.411
CGA Group 4 (n=111)						
Weight (kg)	0.170	4.460	0.577	0.300	0.813	0.305
Length (cm)	0.042	4.793	0.290	0.389	0.659	0.412
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.189	4.410	0.522	0.319	0.610	0.441
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.129	4.569	0.221	0.407	0.131	0.658
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.031	4.819	0.007	0.460	0.025	0.697

Table 3.3: R<sup>2</sup> and root MSE for prediction of body composition by weight/length indices in preterm infants by corrected gestational age

BMI, body mass index; CGA, corrected gestational age; PI, ponderal index; RMSE, root mean square error



Figure 3.1 Scatterplot of the relationship between BMI and %BF in 74 preterm infants measured between 28-33 weeks corrected gestational age.



Figure 3.2: Scatterplot of the relationship between BMI and %BF in 175 preterm infants measured between 34-36 weeks corrected gestational age.



Figure 3.3 Scatterplot of the relationship between BMI and %BF in 113 preterm infants measured between 37-42 weeks corrected gestational age.



Figure 3.4 Scatterplot of the relationship between WL and %BF in 111 preterm infants measured between 43-63 weeks corrected gestational age.

	FMI		F	FMI
Predictor	R <sup>2</sup>	RMSE	R <sup>2</sup>	RMSE
<u>CGA Group 1 (n=74)</u>				
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.492	0.000034	0.804	0.000037
BMI (kg/m²)	0.530	0.000032	0.830	0.000035
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.456	0.000035	0.656	0.000049
<u>CGA Group 2 (n=175)</u>				
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.365	0.000051	0.606	0.000048
BMI (kg/m²)	0.511	0.000045	0.659	0.000045
PI (kg/m³)	0.470	0.000047	0.442	0.000057
<u>CGA Group 3 (n=113)</u>				
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.439	0.000062	0.567	0.000061
BMI (kg/m²)	0.585	0.000053	0.663	0.000054
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.430	0.000063	0.411	0.000071
<u>CGA Group 4 (n=111)</u>				
Weight/length (kg/m)	0.373	0.000084	0.308	0.000096
BMI (kg/m²)	0.366	0.000084	0.568	0.000076
PI (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.163	0.000097	0.479	0.000083

Table 3.4: Relationship between predictors and FMI and FFMI in preterm infants by CGA group

CGA, corrected gestational age; FMI, fat mass index (FM/length<sup>2</sup>); FFMI, fat-free mass index (FFM/length<sup>2</sup>); RMSE, root mean square error

	Body fat (%)				
Predictor	Estimate ± SE	95% CL	P-value	AICC	Df
Weight (kg)	$3.30 \pm 0.29$	2.74, 3.86	<.0001	2764.0	467
Intercept	2.32 ± 1.06	0.24, 4.40	0.0287		467
GA	6.58 ± 1.10	4.42, 8.74	<.0001		467
Sex	-1.07 ± 0.83	-2.70, 0.56	0.1983		464
GA*Weight	-1.02 ± 0.30	-1.61, -0.43	0.0007		465
Sex*Weight	$0.35 \pm 0.21$	-0.07, 0.76	0.1000		339
Length (cm)	$0.80 \pm 0.07$	0.65, 0.95	<.0001	2821.4	466
Intercept	-26.4 ± 3.76	-33.7, -19.0	<.0001		467
GA	18.3 ± 3.81	10.8, 25.8	<.0001		467
Sex	-2.22 ± 2.47	-7.08, 2.65	0.3706		364
GA*Length	-0.29 ± 0.08	-0.44, -0.14	0.0002		467
Sex*Length	$0.05 \pm 0.05$	-0.05, 0.14	0.3731		345
Weight/length (kg/m)	2.65 ± 0.21	2.24, 3.06	<.0001	2701.5	465
Intercept	-3.59 ± 1.38	-6.31, -0.87	0.0098		467
GA	8.05 ± 1.44	5.23, 10.88	<.0001		467
Sex	-1.17 ± 1.04	-3.21, 0.87	0.2613		426
GA*Weight/length	-0.81 ± 0.22	-1.24, -0.38	0.0002		467
sex*Weight/length	0.21 ± 0.15	-0.08, 0.51	0.1492		341
BMI (kg/m²)	2.39 ± 0.18	2.04, 2.73	<.0001	2637.9	454
Intercept	-16.7 ± 2.21	-21.0, -12.3	<.0001		460
GA	10.7 ± 2.31	6.15, 15.2	<.0001		464
Sex	-0.89 ± 1.56	-3.96, 2.19	0.5706		384
GA*BMI	-0.69 ± 0.18	-1.05, -0.32	0.0002		462
sex*BMI	$0.09 \pm 0.12$	-0.14, 0.33	0.4227		348
<b>PI</b> (kg/m³)	1.37 ± 0.25	0.88, 1.86	<.0001	2989.7	433
Intercept	-21.5 ± 6.26	-33.8, -9.21	0.0006		438
GA	6.73 ± 6.50	-6.05, 19.5	0.3011		433
Sex	1.33 ± 4.21	-6.95, 9.61	0.7530		467
GA*PI	-0.22 ± 0.26	-0.72, 0.28	0.3909		431
Sex*PI	-0.06 ± 0.16	-0.37, 0.25	0.6897		467

Table 3.5: Relationship between W/L indices and %BF by GA at birth and sex in 260 preterm infants <32 weeks vs  $\ge$  32 weeks GA at birth

AIC, Akaike information criterion, corrected; BMI, body mass index; GA, gestational age at birth; PI, ponderal index

< 32 wks: 191 infants, 386 measurements; >32 wks: 70 infants, 87 measurements

	Body fat (%)				
Predictor	Estimate ± SE	95% CL	P-value	AICC	Df
Weight (kg)	4.48 ± 0.26	3.97, 5.00	<.0001	2223.6	170
Intercept	-3.50 ± 1.33	-6.10, -0.88	0.0090		204
Term Status (TS)	16.4 ± 1.40	13.6, 19.1	<.0001		224
Sex	0.88 ± 1.27	-1.62, 3.37	0.4887		294
TS*weight	-2.97 ± 0.28	-3.52, -2.42	<.0001		187
Sex*weight	$0.13 \pm 0.25$	-0.37, 0.63	0.6154		247
Length (cm)	1.15 ± 0.08	1.00, 1.31	<.0001	2325.7	184
Intercept	-46.7 ± 4.56	-55.7, -37.7	<.0001		185
TS	49.5 ± 4.66	40.3, 58.7	<.0001		190
Sex	2.88 ± 3.74	-4.48, 10.2	0.4413		275
TS*Length	-0.83 ± 0.08	-1.00, -0.67	<.0001		189
Sex*Length	$-0.03 \pm 0.07$	-0.16, 0.11	0.6774		272
Weight/length (kg/m)	3.69 ± 0.21	3.28, 4.10	<.0001	2199.6	175
Intercept	-13.0 ± 1.79	-16.5, -9.45	<.0001		189
TS	22.0 ± 1.92	18.2, 25.8	<.0001		213
Sex	0.40 ± 1.74	-3.02, 3.83	0.8169		281
TS*weight/length	-2.38 ± 0.22	-2.82, -1.94	<.0001		197
Sex*weight/length	$0.13 \pm 0.20$	-0.27, 0.53	0.5314		259
BMI (kg/m²)	3.29 ± 0.20	2.91, 3.68	<.0001	2207.4	231
Intercept	-30.7 ± 2.94	-36.4, -24.9	<.0001		235
TS	30.3 ± 3.23	23.9, 36.6	<.0001		278
Sex	0.34 ± 2.99	-5.54, 6.23	0.9092		341
TS*BMI	-1.95 ± 0.21	-2.37, -1.53	<.0001		273
Sex*BMI	$0.07 \pm 0.20$	-0.32, 0.46	0.7358		334
PI (kg/m³)	1.65 ± 0.22	1.22, 2.08	<.0001	2242.3	383
Intercept	-24.9 ± 5.81	-36.4, -13.5	<.0001		383
TS	31.3 ± 6.19	19.2, 43.5	<.0001		383
Sex	$7.38 \pm 4.99$	-2.43, 17.2	0.1400		383
TS*PI	-1.16 ± 0.23	-1.61, -0.70	<.0001		383
Sex*PI	-0.24 ± 0.18	-0.60, 0.11	0.1803		383

Table 3.6: Relationship between W/L indices and %BF by gestational age and sex in term infants versus preterm infants at term-corrected age

AIC, Akaike information criterion, corrected; BMI, body mass index; PI, ponderal index; TS, term status (1=term; 2=preterm); 163 infants, 224 measurements; term: 95 infants; 165 measurements

## DISCUSSION

Weight for length indices consist of non-invasive anthropometric measures that are already obtained in the NICU on a routine basis. If reflective of adiposity, use of these indices would be a relatively simple process, potentially allowing clinicians to track the quality of weight gain throughout an infant's NICU stay. Monitoring weight quality via body composition in tandem with nutrition intervention may improve the overall ability of clinicians to optimize nutrition, promote neurodevelopment, and reduce the risk of obesity and metabolic disease.

While BMI was strongly correlated with FM and moderately correlated with %BF for all CGA groups except for group four, it was a poor predictor of %BF and FM for all CGA groups due to low  $R^2$  values and large prediction errors. Of the W/L indices examined, BMI was the best predictor of %BF until CGA 43-65 weeks, where W/L was the best predictor of %BF. W/L indices of BMI and W/L had only moderate ability to predict an infant's whole body FM. These indices similarly predicted FM until preterm infants were of term-corrected age, when W/L (37-42 weeks CGA) or weight (43-63 weeks CGA) became better predictors.

Some have argued that use of FFMI and FMI are more useful than FFM and FM for comparison of adiposity in individuals because they are normalized for body size. Most of our predictors (W/L, BMI, PI) were calculated using length in the denominator, so we examined their ability to predict two of our outcomes on the same general scale. FFMI and FMI are essentially length-normalized indices of BMI, so it was not surprising that BMI was the best predictor of both outcomes. However, because of its ability to predict both outcomes, an elevated BMI could represent either increased FM or FFM.

Our results align with the results of our previous study and other similar studies, which found that BMI was a poor predictor for %BF and had large prediction errors.<sup>10,111,115</sup> A study by Roy et al. found that high BMI z-scores in early infancy (for term infants) had a greater association with later childhood obesity than W/L z-scores, indicating that although BMI is not an adequate surrogate for adiposity, it may be worth monitoring in children younger than 2 years old.<sup>116</sup> Furthermore, BMI measurements were more consistent than W/L measurements over time. In contrast, a study by Aris et al. did not find a difference between the ability of BMI and W/L to predict cardiometabolic outcomes in early adolescence, although adiposity was assessed using bioimpedance, which may have underestimated FM.<sup>117</sup>

In the clinical setting, W/L is used to assess the appropriateness of infant weight gain until age two, but BMI may be a better indication of adiposity until a preterm infant reaches 43 weeks corrected age. However, the WHO W/L growth charts do not account for infant age, which may be problematic for preterm infants, who have a greater amount of FM (and greater %BF) than their peers at term-corrected age but may be shorter in length. Unfortunately, prediction errors may prevent use of BMI to provide estimates of %BF at the individual level. Additionally, in infants and children, BMI can represent a large variation in %BF.<sup>118</sup>

BMI was a strong predictor for FFM between 28-33 weeks CGA, but the effect diminished with increasing age as FM and %BF increased. Weight and length were consistently good predictors of FFM across all CGA groups, which is not surprising for the younger CGA groups given that the majority of an infant's weight consists of FFM. The predictive ability of these indices decreased as preterm infants grew older, which is expected as their %BF increased. We found that GA at birth (< 32 weeks or  $\geq$  32 weeks) was a significant predictor for %BF in models containing W/L indices, GA, and sex with significant interaction between GA and W/L indices (except for PI). This indicates that the predictive ability of W/L indices is affected by early versus late preterm status and should be considered as a covariate in future analyses. We also found a significant interaction between term status and W/L indices when comparing predictive ability in term infants versus preterm infants at term-corrected age. This indicates that the ability of W/L indices to predict %BF is different for term infants than in preterm infants at term-corrected age.

Our study was limited by the fact that a significant proportion of infants did not have race reported. Thus, we are unable to comment on the applicability of our results to other populations. Our study also contained twins and triplets whose measurements may have been correlated. We examined only single predictors in our study, but inclusion of additional covariates such as CGA and sex may have improved the predictive ability of our models.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the relationship between W/L indices and body composition outcomes in preterm infants  $\geq$  one week through 63 weeks CGA. We have confirmed that thus far, we do not have a way to measure adiposity in preterm infants, and weight and BMI are not adequate surrogates for adiposity. Our study results emphasize the importance of continued exploration of bedside body composition methods to help assess disease risk and improve neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm infants.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

COSMED USA provided partial funding for initial data gathering from the study aimed at development of reference curves for infant body composition. The Gerber Foundation

and the Healthy Foods Healthy Lives Institute at the University of Minnesota provided support for the study aimed at determining if ultrasound is predictive of whole body composition.

We thank Jensina Ericksen, Jenna Wassenaar, and Mary Pat Osborne for their assistance with study measurements.

# CHAPTER 4: ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENTS OF MUSCLE AND ADIPOSE TISSUE THICKNESS ARE NOT SURROGATES FOR WHOLE BODY COMPOSITION IN PREMATURE INFANTS

\*Publication Citation (portions of results have been presented as an abstract): Nagel E, Hickey M, Ramel S, et al. Ultrasound measurements of adipose and muscle thickness are correlated with whole body fat and fat-free mass in premature infants. ASPEN 2019. Phoenix, AZ. March 2019.

## **CHAPTER SYNOPSIS**

**Background and Objectives**: Premature infants are at risk for adverse metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes due to growth alterations in early infancy. Monitoring body composition by tracking gains in fat mass and fat-free mass may assist clinicians in preventing obesity and metabolic disease while promoting optimal growth and development. A prospective, observational study was conducted to determine the ability of ultrasound measurements of muscle and adipose tissue thickness to predict whole body composition, including fat-free mass, fat mass, and percent body fat.

**Methods**: Sixty-eight (n=68) healthy premature infants (mean gestational age at birth = 32 weeks) were recruited from the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit at the University of Minnesota. Anthropometric measurements, air displacement plethysmography, and ultrasound measurements of the biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps were conducted when infants were medically stable. Intra-rater reliability of ultrasound measurements was evaluated using percent coefficient of variation and intraclass correlation coefficient. The relationship between ultrasound measurements and body composition was assessed using Pearson's correlation coefficient and linear regression analysis.

**Results**: Ultrasound measurements of muscle and adipose tissue showed good to excellent intra-rater reliability (ICC = 0.87-0.98; %CV = 4.8-13.5%). Biceps (r = 0.56) and quadriceps muscle (r = 0.51) thickness were moderately but significantly correlated with fat-free mass (p <.0001). Adipose tissue thickness of the biceps (r = 0.43; r = 0.32), abdomen (r = 0.43; r = 0.34), and quadriceps (r = 0.40; r = 0.28) were weakly but significantly correlated with fat mass (p < .01) and percent body fat (p < .05). In stepwise linear regression analysis, biceps adipose and the sum of adipose thickness measurements were significant predictors of %BF, but prediction models had low R<sup>2</sup> and high RMSE. US measurements of muscle thickness were not predictive of whole body FFM.

**Conclusions**: Ultrasound measurements of biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps muscle and adipose tissue thickness are not adequate surrogates for whole body composition in preterm infants. Exploration of alternate measurement sites may improve predictive ability.

## INTRODUCTION

Premature infants are at risk for obesity and metabolic disease because of altered growth, including increased adiposity, decreased fat-free mass (FFM) gains, and decreased linear growth for the first two years of life.<sup>3–6</sup> Catch up growth or a rapid period of growth in early infancy may also increase their risk for later insulin resistance, obesity, and cardiovascular disease.<sup>22,101–103</sup> Our previous research found that higher gains in fat mass (FM) from discharge until 4 months of age are positively associated with blood pressure at 4 years of age.<sup>9</sup> Additionally, we discovered that FFM is a better predictor of neurodevelopmental outcomes than weight, and gains in FFM (but not FM) are related to improved neurodevelopmental outcomes.<sup>6,8,22,24</sup> Little is known about the long-term consequences of growth alterations premature infants experience in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), but monitoring changes in body composition by tracking gains in FM and FFM may help assess their risk for later adverse metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes.

Currently, body composition is not routinely monitored in the NICU. While magnetic resonance imaging (MRI),<sup>29</sup> isotope dilution techniques, air displacement plethysmography (ADP), and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) have been studied in premature infants, these methods are not feasible for routine use in the NICU because they require respiratory/medical stability, involve exposure to ionizing radiation, or are expensive.<sup>119,120</sup> Bedside methods such as skinfold thickness and bioimpedance analysis have been proposed to assess body composition in premature infants but have not been validated and have limitations that prevent their routine use in this population. In adolescent and adult populations, ultrasound (US) measurements of muscle and adipose tissue thickness have been used to predict whole body composition.<sup>85,90,92</sup> US is an ideal method for use in premature infants because it is portable, non-invasive,

involves no ionizing radiation, and is suitable for repeated measurements regardless of medical stability. US also has the potential for body composition assessment throughout the life cycle but has not been thoroughly examined in premature infants. In this study, we aimed to determine if US measurements of muscle and adipose tissue thickness are predictive of whole body composition (FFM, FM, percent body fat (%BF)) in premature infants.

### **METHODS**

This study was approved by the University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board. Healthy premature infants were recruited from the University of Minnesota Masonic Children's Hospital Neonatal Intensive Care Unit between November 2018 and May 2019. Study inclusion criteria were birth between 25 and 34 + 6 weeks gestational age (GA), medical and respiratory stability, and independence from central intravenous catheters at time of measurement. Parents of the infants provided informed consent. During the recruitment period, 221 eligible infants were admitted to the NICU. Of the infants not consented to the study, 64 declined, 70 were unable to be consented, 18 transferred, and 1 died. Sixty-eight healthy premature infants were consented. Of these, one patient was transferred to an outside facility before measurements could be conducted. One infant had insufficient body fat for measurement via ADP, one infant was discharged before measurements were conducted, and two did not have complete ultrasound measurements available for analysis. Sixty-three (n=63) infants remained and were included in this study.

The Pea Pod (Cosmed Ltd, Concord, California) was used to conduct ADP. The Pea Pod's operating procedures have been described elsewhere.<sup>44–46,121</sup> Briefly, each infant's length was obtained to the nearest 0.1 cm using a recumbent length board. The

infant was then weighed on the Pea Pod's electronic scale to the nearest 0.0001 kg followed by an approximately 2-minute body volume measurement in the device's test chamber. The body volume measurement, the known density of fat (0.9007 g/mL), and Fomon's<sup>34</sup> or Butte's<sup>35</sup> age and sex specific densities for FFM were then used in the Pea Pod's calculation of %BF. All measurements were taken by a consistent study team.

US images of the biceps (brachii and brachialis), abdomen (rectus abdominus), and guadriceps (vastus intermedius and rectus femoris) and were taken in triplicate on the left side of the infant's body using a portable B-mode ultrasound device (NextGen LOGIQ e R7, GE Medical Systems, Chicago, IL) and high-resolution linear array transducer (LS 10-22-RS, GE Medical System, Chicago, IL). Ultrasound methodology for adults has been previously published but to our knowledge, no protocol for infants currently exists.<sup>81–83,122</sup> Therefore, the following methodology was adapted from adult guidelines. All measurements were taken by one trained operator while the infant was in a supine position. Measurements were conducted using zero compression by resting the transducer on a thick layer of US gel. Ultrasound measurements of the biceps were taken with the infant's palm facing upward and arm positioned slightly away from the body. Point of measurement was determined by visualizing the halfway point between the acromion and antecubital crease. US measurements of the abdomen were taken midway between the costal margin and anterior superior iliac crest, immediately to the left of umbilicus. Measurements were taken during the expiration portion of the respiratory cycle to prevent artificial inflation of abdominal adipose thickness. US measurement of the quadriceps were taken with the infant's knee extended and quadriceps muscle in a relaxed state. To obtain measurements, the transducer was placed approximately halfway between the anterior superior iliac spine and the superior

patellar border. After each US image was obtained, adipose tissue and muscle thickness were measured using electronic calipers (**Figure 1**). The mean of three measurements was used for calculations. If three measurements were unable to be obtained, the mean of two measurements or one measurement was used instead.



Figure 4.1: Ultrasound images of the biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps

a) Biceps

### b) Abdomen

## c) Quadriceps

Electronic calipers indicate adipose thickness (1) and muscle thickness (2)

## Statistical Analysis

SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina) was used to perform statistical analyses. Intra-rater reliability was assessed by percent coefficient of variation (%CV) and intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC).<sup>123</sup> The relationship between US measurements and whole body composition was assessed using Pearson's Correlation Coefficient. To determine the ability of individual US measurements to predict FFM, FM, or %BF, simple linear regression analysis was first employed. Stepwise linear regression analysis was then used to assess the ability of individual US measurements to predict outcomes of FM, FFM, and %BF in the presence of other predictors, including gestational age at birth, corrected age at measurement, weight, and length, and sex. The sum of US measurements was also considered as a predictor of outcomes in a separate analysis. The criterion for variable entry into a given model (significance level for entry, SLE) was set at  $p \le 0.15$ , and the criterion for a variable to stay in the model (significance level for staying, SLS) was set at 0.05. The best model for a given outcome was that which explained the highest proportion of variance (R<sup>2</sup>) with the lowest root mean square error (RMSE).

Because the study population included eleven sets of twins and three sets of triplets, a sensitivity analysis was performed. One member of each siblingship was selected for inclusion in the analysis, and the models were re-run and assessed for differences from the results of the original analysis.

## RESULTS

#### Participant Characteristics

Characteristics of infants who participated in the study are described in Table 4.1. Of the 68 infants enrolled in the study, 63 had ultrasound measurements at all three sites and body composition values generated via ADP. The majority of infants were female (56%) and white (76%). Mean gestational age at birth was 32 weeks ( $\pm$  2.24 weeks, SD). Mean weight at time of measurement was 2165 grams ( $\pm$  360.7 grams, SD), while mean length was 44.1 cm ( $\pm$  2.27 cm, SD). Mean corrected age at measurement was 35.1 weeks ( $\pm$ 1.19 weeks, SD).

## Reliability

Intra-rater reliability of ultrasound measurements is shown in Table 4.2. Ultrasound measurements at all sites had %CV between 4.8-13.5%, with the highest %CV reported for biceps adipose thickness. ICC for all ultrasound measurements ranged from 0.874-0.975.

Variable Data<sup>a</sup> Gestational age at birth (weeks) 32.0 (2.24) 28 (44%) Sex (male) Race White 48 (76.2%) Black 6 (9.52%) Other 9 (14.3%) Corrected age at measurement (weeks) 35.1 (1.19) Weight (grams) 2165 (360.7) Length (cm) 44.1 (2.27) 1973.9 (325.3) FFM (grams) FM (grams) 191.5 (94.5) %BF 8.72 (3.88) Biceps adipose thickness (mm) 1.85 (0.49) Biceps muscle thickness (mm) 7.90 (1.25) Abdominal adipose thickness (mm) 2.21 (0.61) Abdominal muscle thickness (mm) 2.46 (0.61) Quadriceps adipose thickness (mm) 2.51 (0.80) Quadriceps muscle thickness (mm) 11.3 (2.04)

Table 4.1: Descriptive	characteristics	of preterm	infants	(n=63)
------------------------	-----------------	------------	---------	--------

<sup>a</sup>Continuous variables expressed as mean (standard deviation) and categorical variables as n (percentage)

	or unrasound	measurements
Measurement Site	%CV <sup>a</sup>	ICC <sup>b</sup>
Biceps adipose thickness	13.5	0.873
Biceps muscle thickness	3.86	0.975
Abdominal adipose thickness	10.6	0.930
Abdominal muscle thickness	8.83	0.949
Quadriceps adipose thickness	4.8	0.963
Quadriceps muscle thickness	9.2	0.968

## Table 4.2: Intra-rater reliability of ultrasound measurements

<sup>a</sup>Percent coefficient of variation

<sup>b</sup>Intraclass correlation coefficient

#### US measurements of muscle thickness and whole body FFM

Both biceps muscle (*r*=0.56) and quadriceps muscle (*r* = 0.51) were moderately but significantly correlated with FFM (p < .05) (**Table 4.3**). Table 4.6 shows the relationship between individual US measurements of muscle thickness and whole body FFM. All models had low R<sup>2</sup> values. Table 4.7 shows the results of stepwise regression analysis. The best linear regression model had an adjusted R<sup>2</sup> = 0.94 and included weight, length, and gestational age at birth. None of the US measurements of muscle were selected for model inclusion because they did not meet SLE requirements. Similarly, in a separate analysis, the sum of all muscle thickness measurements (USM) was not selected in stepwise regression analysis and was therefore excluded from the best-fitting model.

 Table 4.3: Pearson's correlation coefficients for US measurements of muscle

 thickness and whole body FFM

Measurement site (mm)	FFM
Biceps muscle	*0.56
Abdominal muscle	0.23
Quadriceps muscle	*0.51

\*indicates significance at p < .0001

US measurements of adipose tissue thickness and whole body FM and %BF Biceps adipose tissue (r =0.43), abdominal adipose tissue (r =0.43), and quadriceps adipose tissue (r =0.40), were moderately but significantly correlated with whole body FM **(Table 4.4**). All three adipose sites were also weakly but significantly correlated with %BF. Table 4.5 shows models generated during simple linear regression of individual US measurements of adipose thickness on FM and %BF. All models had low R<sup>2</sup>, and the models for %BF had greater RMSE values than the models for FM. In stepwise linear regression analysis, the final regression model for FM had a low R<sup>2</sup> value (0.34) and included weight, length, and gestational age at birth (**Table 4.8**). In a separate regression analysis, the sum of all adipose thickness measurements (USA) was not selected in the final model, which included weight, length, and gestational age at birth. For %BF, biceps adipose tissue thickness and gestational age were included in the final model, which had a low  $R^2$  (0.17) and high prediction error (RMSE = 3.54) (**Table 4.9**). When the sum of all US adipose thickness measurements (USA) was tested as a predictor in a separate analysis, the resulting model included USA and gestational age at birth but had low  $R^2$  (0.16) and high RMSE (3.57).

Measurement site (mm)	FM	%BF	
Biceps adipose	*0.43	*0.32	
Abdominal adipose	*0.43	*0.34	
Quadriceps adipose	*0.40	*0.28	

 Table 4.4: Pearson's correlation coefficients for US

 measurements of adipose tissue and whole body FM and %BF

\*indicates significance at p < .05

#### Sensitivity Analysis

Results of the sensitivity analysis showed slight differences in models for prediction of FM and %BF from USA (**Supplemental Table 4.1**). When only one member of each siblingship was selected for inclusion in data analysis, USA and CGA were included in the final model for prediction of FM from the sum of US adipose thickness measurements USA and length were included in the final model predicting %BF from sum of US adipose thickness measurements

### DISCUSSION

Body composition, while linked to neurodevelopmental and metabolic outcomes in preterm infants, is not routinely measured in the NICU due to limitations of currently available tools. Ultrasound, a non-invasive, portable device is highly desirable for measurement of body composition in a medically fragile population. In this study, we have shown that bedside ultrasound can detect and measure muscle and adipose tissue thickness in premature infants with good to excellent reliability (ICC). Variability relative to the mean of measurements (%CV) was highest for biceps adipose tissue thickness (13.5%), also the smallest of all muscle and adipose tissue thickness measurements. Our results are in contrast to those of McLeod and colleagues,<sup>95</sup> who found that %CV for US measurements in preterm infants was highest for thigh adipose tissue and lowest for midarm adipose tissue and mid-arm muscle tissue. This may be because their study population was slightly younger (mean gestational age of 27 weeks), and infants were older when measurements were taken (mean corrected age at measurement of 40 weeks). This likely resulted in larger mean measurements of muscle and adipose tissue at each site. While McLeod measured 6 different sites (abdomen, subscapular, anterior and posterior arm, mid-arm, posterior and anterior thigh, and mid-thigh), ultrasound measurements were not compared with whole body composition. The only other study examining ultrasound in premature infants did not report reliability.93

We found that ultrasound measurements of biceps and quadriceps muscle thickness were moderately and significantly correlated with whole body FFM but were not significantly predictive when covariates of weight, length, gestational age at birth, and corrected age at measurement were included. A preterm infant's weight is comprised predominantly of FFM and not surprisingly had the strongest effect on whole body FFM.<sup>10</sup> Gestational age was included in the model and has a strong association 52

with FFM; infants born at an earlier gestational age have less absolute FFM.<sup>124</sup> The sum of all muscle thickness measurements was not substantial enough to offset the effect of weight on FFM, likely explaining its exclusion from the best-fitting model.

Measurements of adipose tissue at all three sites were moderately and significantly correlated with whole body FM and weakly correlated with %BF, indicating the possibility that adipose thickness may be predictive of these outcomes. When competing against other, more easily measured anthropometric measures of body composition like weight and length, no US measurement of adipose thickness was retained in the final model, indicating none were predictive of whole body FM. However, biceps adipose thickness (BA) was selected in the regression model for %BF. Nonetheless, the low R<sup>2</sup> and moderately high RMSE of the model limits confidence in the predictive ability of these measures. Similarly, the sum of adipose tissue thickness (USA) at all three sites was selected for the model for %BF but had low R<sup>2</sup>, again indicating low predictive ability.

Although the final models for prediction of FM and %BF from USA were slightly different upon inclusion of only one member of each set of twin and triplets in the data set, both models still had low variance explained and similar prediction error. Since no significant model improvement was seen with the inclusion of all members of each siblingship, the final data set contained no exclusions.

Our ultrasound sites were selected based on adolescent and adult studies which found that muscle and adipose tissue thickness of the abdomen and quadriceps were representative of whole body composition.<sup>83,90</sup> We also selected sites that would be simple to measure on a premature infant in the supine position. Our results are similar to those of Ahmad and colleagues, who found that the cross-sectional area of calf muscle

(r = 0.63) and adipose tissue (r = 0.67) but not thickness were significantly correlated with whole body composition.<sup>125</sup>

While other studies have found that FM differs based upon an infant's sex, we did not note any differences in body composition for males in comparison to females, likely because the mean corrected age of the infants in our study was 35 weeks, and sex-specific differences may not be noted until later in life.<sup>126</sup>

Our study was limited by the number of infants admitted to our NICU during the recruitment period, and our results may not be not representative of more diverse populations. Our study patients included twelve sets of twins and three sets of triplets, but we did not adjust for correlation of data due to lack of significant differences in our sensitivity analysis. We limited the number of ultrasound sites to three that were practical to obtain while the infant was in a supine position, but it is possible that inclusion of posterior region sites would have led to better-fitting models and should be considered in future studies. Furthermore, inclusion of measures of cross-sectional area may be more representative of whole body composition and should be explored.

While we examined intra-rater reliability of ultrasound measurements, we did not assess inter-rater reliability due to time constraints. Infants were measured between feeding and care times and needed to be transported to a research room for US and ADP measurements. Because of the need for transport, nursing staff preferred that measurements occur immediately before feedings to prevent emesis and loss of nutrition. Consequently, infants became fussy when measured for a prolonged period of time, which would most likely affect additional ultrasound measurements taken during a study session. In the future, inter-rater studies would strengthen the reliability of ultrasound measurements and would help facilitate the development of a consensus protocol for the use of US as a bedside assessment tool in this population.

To our knowledge, our study is the first to correlate ultrasound measurements at multiple sites with whole body composition in premature infants. While measures of muscle and adipose thickness at the selected sites were not adequate proxies for whole body FFM, FM, or %BF, we were able to successfully modify adolescent and adult US protocols for use in premature infants, paving the way for future studies which may explore additional measures.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by grant support from the Gerber Foundation and the Healthy Foods Healthy Lives Institute at the University of Minnesota. We thank Jensina Ericksen and Jenna Wassenaar for their assistance with study measurements.

Variable	P-value	Regression equation for FM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)	
Biceps (BA)	0.0004	0.08*BA+0.04	0.18	0.09	
Abdomen (AA)	0.0004	0.07*AA+0.04	0.17	0.09	
Quadriceps (QA)	0.0012	0.05*QA+0.07	0.34	0.08	
	P-value	Regression equation for %BF	Model Adi.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)	
Biceps (BA)	0.0101	2.55*BA+4.0	0.09	3.70	
Abdomen (AA)	0.0064	2.15*AA+3.96	0.10	3.68	
Quadriceps (QA)	0.0250	1.37*QA+5.27	0.06	3.75	

Table 4.5: Association of individual US measurements of adipose tissue thickness with FM and %BF in 63 preterm infants measured at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

%BF, percent body fat; AA, abdominal adipose; BA, biceps adipose; FM, fat mass; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound

Table 4.6: Association of individual US measurements of muscle thickness with FFM in 63 preterm infants measured at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

Variable	P-value	Regression equation for FFM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)
Biceps (BM)	<.0001	0.15*BM+0.82	0.31	0.27
Abdomen (AM)	0.0584	0.12*AM+1.67	0.03	0.32
Quadriceps (QM)	<.0001	0.08*QM+1.06	0.25	0.28

AM, abdominal muscle; BM, biceps muscle; FFM, fat-free mass; gestational age at birth; QA, quadriceps muscle; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound

Table 4.7: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of FFM from US measurements of muscle thickness and USM and weight, length, and GA in 63 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

Step and variable	Regression equation for FFM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)
1. Weight	0.87*weight+0.08	0.93	0.08
2. Length	0.73*weight+0.03*length-0.77	0.94	0.08
3. GA	0.78*weight+0.02*length+0.01*GA-0.74	0.94	0.08
Step and variable	Regression equation for FFM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)
1. Weight	0.87*weight+0.08	0.93	0.08
2. Length	0.73*weight+0.03*length-0.77	0.94	0.08
3. GA	0.78*weight+0.02*length+0.01*GA-0.74	0.94	0.08

FFM, fat-free mass; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound, USM, sum of ultrasound muscle measurements

Table 4.8: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of FM from US measurements of adipose tissue thickness and USM, weight, length, and GA in 63 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

Step and variable	Regression equation for FM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)
1. Weight	0.13*weight-0.08	0.22	0.08
2. Length	0.27*weight-0.03*length+0.77	0.33	0.08
3. GA	0.22*weight-0.02*length-0.01*GA+0.74	0.34	0.08
Step and variable	Regression equation for FM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (kg)
1. USA	0.03*USA+0.01	0.22	0.08
2. Weight	0.02*USA+0.08*weight-0.09	0.27	0.08
3. Length	0.01*USA+0.22*weight-0.02*length+0.65	0.33	0.08
4. USA removed	0.27*weight-0.03*length+0.77	0.33	0.08
5. GA	0.22*weight-0.02*length-0.01*GA+0.74	0.34	0.08

FM, fat mass; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound; USA, sum of ultrasound measurements

 Table 4.9: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of %BF from US measurements of adipose tissue thickness and USA and GA in 63 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

Step and variable	Regression equation for %BF	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (%BF)
1. GA	-0.62*GA+28.7	0.12	3.65
3. Biceps (BA)	-0.54*GA+2.07*BA +22.0	0.17	3.54
Step and variable	Regression equation for %BF	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (%BF)
1. USA	0.86*USA+3.05	0.12	3.64
2. GA	0.62*USA-0.44*GA+18.8	0.16	3.56

%BF, percent body fat; BA, biceps adipose; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound; USA, sum of ultrasound adipose measures
# Supplemental Table 4.1: Sensitivity Analysis: stepwise regression analysis for prediction of FM and %BF from the sum of US measurements of adipose tissue thickness, CGA, and length in 63 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

Step and variable	Regression equation for FM	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (%BF)
1 USA	0.03*USA+0.01	0.21	0.08
1.00/		0.21	0.00
2. CGA	0.02*USA+0.02*CGA-0.65	0.25	0.08
Step and variable	Regression equation for %BF	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE (%BF)
1. USA	0.74*USA+3.65	0.09	3.62
2. Length	1.0*USA-0.47*length+22.9		

FM, fat mass; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound; USA, sum of ultrasound measuremen

### **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

#### CONCLUSIONS

Preterm infants experience altered growth patterns that may have later adverse effects on metabolic and neurodevelopmental health. Monitoring weight gain quality in response to nutritional provision as preterm infants grow may help clinicians decrease the risk for the development of obesity and other metabolic diseases while promoting optimal neurodevelopmental health.

Some researchers have proposed the use of weight for length indices to monitor growth, but an evaluation of these indices (W/L, BMI, PI) reveals that none is an adequate surrogate for adiposity in preterm infants from 30-63 weeks corrected age. Thus, a bedside method for assessing body composition in preterm infants is highly desirable and requires further exploration.

The primary purpose of this dissertation was to explore body composition methods in preterm infants, specifically ultrasound, a noninvasive bedside method which is relatively simple to conduct and does not require medical stability of the infant. When comparing ultrasound measures of biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps adipose and muscle thickness with whole body composition (FM, FFM, %BF) via ADP, we found that US measurements were not able to provide precise predictions of body composition due to low variation explained and/or high prediction error of resulting models. Inclusion of additional measurement sites or exploration of additional measures such as crosssectional area may improve the predictive ability of ultrasound measures.

This dissertation work adds to previous research that found that weight for length indices were not predictive of adiposity in preterm infants within 72 hours after birth. This work demonstrates that weight for length indices cannot be used as proxies for adiposity in preterm infants  $\geq$  7 days after birth through 63 weeks corrected gestational age. However, it may be useful to monitor BMI, which is not currently tracked in infants or children less than 2 years old, as it was more predictive of FM and %BF than weight for length from 30-42 weeks corrected age.

While ultrasound measurements at the biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps were not adequate surrogates for whole body composition in preterm infants, we have shown that measurement protocol can be successfully adapted from adult and adolescent protocols. Additionally, there may be some prognostic value in individual ultrasound measurements, namely whether they influence factors related to NICU discharge, such as time to full oral feeds. Continued exploration of bedside methods for assessment of

63

neonatal body composition, including the pursuit of alternate ultrasound measurement sites, is warranted in order to find a suitable method for tracking weight quality in response to nutritional provision.

#### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

This dissertation work provides a foundation for future studies that further explore the use of ultrasound measurements for prediction of whole body composition and clinical outcomes. The following sections contain a brief glimpse of some of the work to be conducted.

#### Reliability of ultrasound measurements and longitudinal measurements

While this dissertation explored intra-rater reliability via ICC and CV%, inter-rater reliability was not assessed due to logical constraints, including limited tie for measurements with the infants. To strengthen the results of future studies and confirm the appropriateness of our protocol, inter-rater studies should be conducted. Furthermore, if the goal is to find a bedside tool for routine assessment of body composition, the feasibility of longitudinal measurements should be investigated.

## Ability of ultrasound measurements of muscle thickness to predict neurodevelopmental outcomes

Previous research has shown that gains in FFM (but not FM) are associated with improved neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm infants at 1 year corrected age.<sup>8</sup> Whether changes in muscle tissue thickness, a more specific component of FFM, are also associated with improved neurodevelopmental outcomes is unknown. Ultrasound measurements should be taken longitudinally in the NICU with at least one timepoint on an outpatient basis after the infant reaches term-corrected age to assess this relationship. If proven to be predictive of neurodevelopmental outcomes, changes in measurements of muscle thickness could be tracked in response to nutritional intervention. This may ultimately help clinicians to improve neurodevelopmental outcomes for preterm infants.

### Ability of ultrasound measurements to predict metabolic outcomes and corrected age at discharge from the NICU

A preterm infant's discharge from the NICU is dependent on a myriad of factors such as respiratory stability, adequate growth, and the ability to consume oral feeds. We

conducted a secondary analysis of ultrasound measurements of muscle and adipose tissue thickness to predict systolic and diastolic blood pressure at discharge and corrected age at discharge.

Data from forty-six preterm infants originally recruited from the University of Minnesota NICU for a study on ultrasound measurements and whole body composition was used for this analysis. Ultrasound measurements of the biceps, abdomen, and quadriceps were taken when infants were medically stable. Stepwise linear regression analysis was used to determine the ability of ultrasound measurements to predict clinical outcomes with covariates of gestational age at birth, weight, length, and corrected age at measurement. We also evaluated the relationship between the sum of ultrasound measurements and outcomes. The best model for a given outcome was that with had the highest R<sup>2</sup> and lowest root mean square error (RMSE).

#### Preliminary Data

In linear regression analysis, biceps adipose thickness was a significant predictor of diastolic blood pressure (p=0.0386) but the final prediction model had low  $R^2$  (0.07) and high error (RMSE = 8.59). Adipose tissue thickness was not predictive of SBP.

In linear regression analysis, abdominal muscle was significantly predictive of corrected age at discharge (p=0.0096) with R<sup>2</sup>=0.30. For every 1 mm increase in abdominal muscle, corrected age at discharge decreased by 0.89 weeks. In a separate analysis, the sum of ultrasound measurements of muscle thickness was also a significant predictor of corrected age at discharge (p=0.0079) with R<sup>2</sup>=0.26. For every 1 mm increase in the sum of muscle thickness measurements, corrected age at discharge decreased by 0.23 weeks. These results are shown in Table 5.1. Adipose tissue was not significantly predictive of corrected age at discharge (p=0.1124), but biceps adipose was included in the final prediction model (**Table 5.2**).

Should ultrasound measurements of adipose tissue thickness prove to be predictive of metabolic outcomes, they may be a useful in monitoring disease risk in preterm infants. While abdominal muscle and the sum of ultrasound muscle measurements were significantly predictive of corrected age at discharge and were included in final regression models, low R<sup>2</sup> and moderate RMSE limit their predictive ability. Evaluation of additional US sites is warranted to determine if they can yield increased R<sup>2</sup> and decreased RMSE. Should the ability of ultrasound measurements of

muscle thickness to predict corrected gestational age at discharge improve, ultrasound may be a useful tool for prediction of discharge from the NICU.

Predictor	Estimate ± SE	P-value	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE
			0.30	1.41
GA	-0.49 ± 0.12	0.0317		
CGA	$0.95 \pm 0.26$	0.0326		
AM	$-0.89 \pm 0.34$	0.0096		
Weight	-1.72 ± 0.90	0.0618		
Predictor	Estimate ± SE	P-value	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE
			0.26	1.45
GA	-0.23 ± 0.11	0.0317		
CGA	$0.67 \pm 0.20$	0.0326		
USM	-0.23 ± 0.08	0.0079		

Table 5.1: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of corrected age at discharge from US measurements of muscle thickness and USM, GA, weight, and length in 47 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

AM, abdominal muscle thickness; CGA, corrected gestational age at measurement; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound; USM, sum of ultrasound muscle measurements

Table 5.2: Stepwise regression analysis for prediction of corrected age at discharge from US measurements of adipose thickness and GA, CGA, and weight in 47 preterm infants at mean corrected age of 35 weeks

Predictor	Estimate ± SE	P-value	Model Adj.R <sup>2</sup>	Model RMSE
			0.24	1.47
GA	-0.36 ± 0.12	0.317		
CGA	0.85 ± 0.27	0.0326		
Weight	-2.61 ± 1.02	0.0475		
BA	0.86 ± 0.53	0.1124		

BA, biceps adipose thickness; CGA, corrected gestational age at measurement; GA, gestational age at birth; RMSE, root mean square error; US, ultrasound

#### REFERENCES

- 1. WHO | Preterm birth. WHO. 2017. Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs363/en/. Accessed April 14, 2018.
- 2. American Academy of Pediatrics. Pediatric nutrition. In: Kleinman RE, Greer FR, eds. 7th ed. American Academy of Pediatrics.
- 3. Johnson MJ, Wootton S, Leaf A, Jackson A. Preterm birth and body composition at term equivalent age: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*. 2012;130(3):e640–e649. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3379.
- 4. Ramel SE, Demerath EW, Gray HL, Younge N, Boys C, Georgieff MK. The relationship of poor linear growth velocity with neonatal illness and two-year neurodevelopment in preterm infants. *Neonatology*. 2012;102(1):19–24. doi:10.1159/000336127.
- 5. Ramel SE, Gray HL, Ode KL, Younge N, Georgieff MK, Demerath EW. Body composition changes in preterm infants following hospital discharge. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* 2011;53(3):333–338. doi:10.1097/MPG.0b013e3182243aa7.
- 6. Cho WK, Suh B-K. Catch-up growth and catch-up fat in children born small for gestational age. *Korean J Pediatr*. 2016;59(1):1–7. doi:10.3345/kjp.2016.59.1.1.
- Ong K, Loos R. Rapid infancy weight gain and subsequent obesity: Systematic reviews and hopeful suggestions. *Acta Paediatr.* 2006;95(8):904–908. doi:10.1080/08035250600719754.
- 8. Ramel SE, Gray HL, Christiansen E, Boys C, Georgieff MK, Demerath EW. Greater early gains in fat free mass, but not fat mass, are associated with improved neurodevelopment at 1 year corrected age for prematurity in very low birth weight preterm infants. *J Pediatr.* 2016;173:108–115. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.03.003.
- 9. Pfister KM, Zhang L, Miller NC, Ingolfsland EC, Demerath EW, Ramel SE. Early body composition changes are associated with neurodevelopmental and metabolic outcomes at 4 years of age in very preterm infants. *Pediatr Res.* 2018;84(5):713–718. doi:10.1038/s41390-018-0158-x.
- 10. Ramel SE, Zhang L, Misra S, Anderson CG, Demerath EW. Do anthropometric measures accurately reflect body composition in preterm infants? *Pediatr Obes*. 2017;12(August):72–77. doi:10.1111/ijpo.12181.
- 11. Wells JCK. Toward body composition reference data for infants, children, and adolescents. *Adv Nutr.* 2014;5(3):320S–9S. doi:10.3945/an.113.005371.
- 12. Rice MS, Valentine CJ. Neonatal body composition: Measuring lean mass as a tool to guide nutrition management in the neonate. *Nutr Clin Pract.* 2015;30(5):625–32. doi:10.1177/0884533615578917.

- 13. Hay WW, Jr. Aggressive nutrition of the preterm infant. *Curr Pediatr Rep.* 2013;1(4). doi:10.1007/s40124-013-0026-4.
- 14. Georgieff MK, Hoffman JS, Pereira GR, Bernbaum J, Hoffman-Williamsoa M. Effect of neonatal caloric deprivation on head growth and 1-year developmental status in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. 1985;107(4):581–587.
- 15. Embleton NE, Pang N, Cooke RJ. Postnatal malnutrition and growth retardation: An inevitable consequence of current recommendations in preterm infants? *Pediatrics*. 2001;107(2):270–273.
- 16. Koltezko B, Poindexter B, Uauy R, eds. *Nutritional Care of Preterm Infants*. Basel: S. Karger; 2014. doi:10.1159/000358474.
- Antonio Costa-Orvay J, Figueras-Aloy J, Romera G, Closa-Monasterolo R, Carbonell-Estrany X. The effects of varying protein and energy intakes on the growth and body composition of very low birth weight infants. *Nutr J*. 2011;10(140):1–8. doi:10.1186/1475-2891-10-140.
- Huang P, Zhou J, Yin Y, Jing W, Luo B, Wang J. Effects of breast-feeding compared with formula-feeding on preterm infant body composition: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Nutr.* 2016;116(1):132–141. doi:10.1017/S0007114516001720.
- 19. Roggero P, Giannì ML, Amato O, Piemontese P, Morniroli D, Wong WW, Mosca F. Evaluation of air-displacement plethysmography for body composition assessment in preterm infants. *Pediatr Res.* 2012;72(3). doi:10.1038/pr.2012.75.
- Koontz MB, Gunzler DD, Presley L, Catalano PM. Longitudinal changes in infant body composition: association with childhood obesity. *Pediatr Obes*. 2014;9(6):e141-4. doi:10.1111/ijpo.253.
- 21. Kerkhof GF, Willemsen RH, Leunissen RWJ, Breukhoven PE, Hokken-Koelega ACS. Health profile of young adults born preterm: negative effects of rapid weight gain in early life. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2012;97(12):4498–4506. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-1716.
- 22. Eriksson JG, Forsén T, Tuomilehto J, Winter PD, Osmond C, Barker DJP. Catchup growth in childhood and death from coronary heart disease: longitudinal study. *Br Med J*. 1999;318:427–431.
- 23. Singhal A, Kennedy K, Lanigan J, Fewtrell M, Cole TJ, Stephenson T, Elias-Jones A, Weaver LT, Ibhanesebhor S, MacDonald PD, Bindels J, Lucas A. Nutrition in infancy and long-term risk of obesity: evidence from 2 randomized controlled trials. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2010;92(5):1133–1144. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2010.29302.
- 24. Pfister KM, Gray HL, Miller NC, Demerath EW, Georgieff MK, Ramel SE. Exploratory study of the relationship of fat-free mass to speed of brain processing in preterm infants. *Pediatr Res.* 2013;74(5):576–583. doi:10.1038/pr.2013.138.

- 25. Earthman CP. Body composition tools for assessment of adult malnutrition at the bedside: A tutorial on research considerations and clinical applications. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* 2015;39(7):787–822. doi:10.1177/0148607115595227.
- 26. H Mitchell BH, Hamilton TS, Steggerda R, Bean HW, Husbandry A. The chemical composition of the adult human body and its bearing on the biochemistry of growth. *J Biol Chem.* 1945;158:625–637. Available at: http://www.jbc.org/. Accessed March 27, 2019.
- 27. Fuller NJ, Jebb SA, Laskey MA, Coward WA, Elia M. Four-component model for the assessment of body composition in humans: comparison with alternative methods, and evaluation of the density and hydration of fat-free mass. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*). 1992;82(6):687–93. doi:10.1042/CS0820687.
- 28. Lohman TG. Assessment of Body Composition in Children. *Pediatr Exerc Sci.* 1989;1(1):19–30. doi:10.1123/pes.1.1.19.
- 29. Demerath EW, Fields DA. Body composition assessment in the infant. *Am J Hum Biol.* 2014;26(3):291–304. doi:10.1002/ajhb.22500.
- Withers RT, Laforgia J, Heymsfield SB. Critical appraisal of the estimation of body composition via two-, three-, and four-compartment models. *Am J Hum Biol.* 1999;11(2):175–185. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1520-6300(1999)11:2<175::AID-AJHB5>3.0.CO;2-C.
- 31. Ellis KJ. Human body composition: In vivo methods. *Physiol Rev.* 2000;80(2):649–680.
- Siri WE. Techniques for Measuring Body Composition: Proceedings of a Conference. (Brozek J, Henschel A, eds.). Natick: Headquarters Quartermaster Research and Engineering Command; 1959.
- 33. Weber DR, Leonard MB, Zemel BS. Body composition analysis in the pediatric population. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* 2012;10(1):130–9.
- 34. Fomon SJ, Haschke F, Ziegler EE, Nelson SE. Body composition of reference children from birth to age 10 years. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1982;35:1169–1175.
- 35. Butte NF, Hopkinson JM, Wong WW, Smith EO, Ellis KJ. Body composition during the first 2 years of life: An updated reference. *Pediatr Res.* 2000;47(5):578–585. doi:10.1203/00006450-200005000-00004.
- Heymsfield SB, Ebbeling CB, Zheng J, Pietrobelli A, Strauss BJ, Silva AM, Ludwig DS. Multi-component molecular-level body composition reference methods: evolving concepts and future directions. *Obes Rev.* 2015;16(4):282–94. doi:10.1111/obr.12261.
- 37. Mazahery H, Hurst PR Von, Mckinlay CJD, Cormack BE, Conlon CA. Air displacement plethysmography (Pea Pod) in full-term and pre-term infants: A

comprehensive review of accuracy, reproducibility, and practical challenges. *Matern Heal Neonatol Perinatol.* 2018;4(1):1–11.

- 38. Forbes GB. Stature lean body mass. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1974;27:595–602.
- 39. Forbes GB. Relation of lean body mass to height in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Res.* 1972;6(1):32–7. doi:10.1203/00006450-197201000-00005.
- 40. Wells JCK, Fewtrell MS, Davies PSW, Williams JE, Coward WA, Cole TJ. Prediction of total body water in infants and children. *Arch Dis Child*. 2005;90(9):965–71. doi:10.1136/adc.2004.067538.
- 41. Wells JCK, Fewtrell MS. Is body composition important for paediatricians? *Arch Dis Child*. 2008;93(2):168–72. doi:10.1136/adc.2007.115741.
- 42. Fomon SJ, Nelson SE. Body composition of the male and female reference infants. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2002;22(1):1–17. doi:10.1146/annurev.nutr.22.111401.145049.
- 43. Ma G, Yao M, Lin Y, Lin A, Zou H, Urlando A, Wong WW, Nommsen-Rivers L, Dewey KG. Validation of a new pediatric air-displacement plethysmograph for assessing body composition in infants. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2004;79(4):653–660.
- 44. Urlando A, Dempster P, Aitkens S. A new air displacement plethysmograph for the measurement of body composition in infants. *Pediatr Res.* 2003;53(3):486–492. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000049669.74793.E3.
- 45. Forsum E, Olhager E, Törnqvist C. An evaluation of the Pea Pod system for assessing body composition of moderately premature infants. *Nutrients*. 2016;8(4):238. doi:10.3390/nu8040238.
- Sainz RD, Urlando A. Evaluation of a new pediatric air-displacement plethysmograph for body-composition assessment by means of chemical analysis of bovine tissue phantoms. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2003;77(2):364–70.
- 47. Ellis KJ, Yao M, Shypailo RJ, Urlando A, Wong WW, Heird WC. Body-composition assessment in infancy: air-displacement plethysmography compared with a reference 4-compartment model. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2007;85(1):90–95. doi:10.1016/S8756-5005(08)79133-9.
- 48. Algotar A, Shaikhkhalil AK, Siler-Wurst K, Sitaram S, Gulati I, Jadcherla SR. Unique patterns of body composition and anthropometric measurements during maturation in neonatal intensive care unit neonates: Opportunities for modifying nutritional therapy and influencing clinical outcomes. *J Parenter Enter Nutr.* 2018;42(1):231–238. doi:10.1002/JPEN.1012.
- 49. Demerath EW, Johnson W, Davern BA, Anderson CG, Shenberger JS, Misra S, Ramel SE. New body composition reference charts for preterm infants. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2017;105:70–77. doi:10.3945/ajcn.116.138248.

- Norris T, Ramel SE, Catalano P, Caoimh C ni, Roggero P, Murray D, Fields DA, Demerath EW, Johnson W. New charts for the assessment of body composition, according to air-displacement plethysmography, at birth and across the first 6 mo of life. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2019;109(5):1353–1360. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqy377.
- Kyle UG, Bosaeus I, De Lorenzo AD, Deurenberg P, Elia M, Gómez JM, Heitmann BL, Kent-Smith L, Melchior J-C, Pirlich M, Scharfetter H, Schols AMWJ, Pichard C. Bioelectrical impedance analysis—part I: review of principles and methods. *Clin Nutr*. 2004;23(5):1226–1243. doi:10.1016/J.CLNU.2004.06.004.
- Ellis KJ, Bell SJ, Chertow GM, Chumlea WC, Knox TA, Kotler DP, Lukaski HC, Schoeller DA. Bioelectrical impedance methods in clinical research: a follow-up to the NIH technology assessment conference. *Nutrition*. 1999;15(11–12):874–880. doi:10.1016/S0899-9007(99)00147-1.
- 53. Mulasi U, Kuchnia A, Cole A, Earthman C. Bioimpedance at the bedside: Current applications, limitations, and opportunities. *Nutr Clin Pract*. 2015;30(2):180–193. doi:10.1177/0884533614568155.
- 54. Deurenberg P, Deurenberg-Yap M. Validity of body composition methods across ethnic population groups. *Acta Diabetol.* 2003;40:S246–S249. doi:10.1007/s00592-003-0077-z.
- 55. Hartnoll G, Bétrémieux P, Modi N. Body water content of extremely preterm infants at birth. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 2000;83(1):F56-9. doi:10.1136/FN.83.1.F56.
- 56. Collins CT, Reid J, Makrides M, Lingwood BE, McPhee AJ, Morris SA, Gibson RA, Ward LC. Prediction of body water compartments in preterm infants by bioelectrical impedance spectroscopy. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2013;67(S1):S47–S53. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2012.164.
- 57. Ward LC, Isenring E, Dyer JM, Kagawa M, Essex T. Resistivity coefficients for body composition analysis using bioimpedance spectroscopy: Effects of body dominance and mixture theory algorithm. *Physiol Meas*. 2015;36(7):1529–1549. doi:10.1088/0967-3334/36/7/1529.
- 58. Lingwood BE. Bioelectrical impedance analysis for assessment of fluid status and body composition in neonates—the good, the bad and the unknown. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2013;67(S1):S28–S33. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2012.162.
- Lingwood BE, Storm van Leeuwen A-M, Carberry AE, Fitzgerald EC, Callaway LK, Colditz PB, Ward LC. Prediction of fat-free mass and percentage of body fat in neonates using bioelectrical impedance analysis and anthropometric measures: Validation against the PEA POD. *Br J Nutr*. 2018;107:1545–1552. doi:10.1017/S0007114511004624.
- 60. Sesmero M, Mazariegos M, Pedrón C, Jones J, Solomons NW. Bioimpedance electrical spectroscopy in the first six months of life: Some methodologic

considerations. *Nutrition*. 2005;21:567–573. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2004.10.010.

- 61. Dung NQ, Fusch G, Armbrust S, Jochum F, Fusch C. Body composition of preterm infants measured during the first months of life: Bioelectrical impedance provides insignificant additional information compared to anthropometry alone. *Eur J Pediatr.* 2007;166(3):215–222. doi:10.1007/s00431-006-0232-y.
- Comym VC, Macedu YS, Neves EKPB, Bueno AC, Fernandez HC, Moreira MEL, Vieira AA, Comym VC, Macedu YS, Neves EKPB, Bueno AC, Fernandez HC, Moreira MEL, Vieira AA. Interference of heart and transcutaneous oxygen monitoring in the measurement of bioelectrical impedance analysis in preterm newborns. *J Pediatr (Rio J)*. 2016;92(5):528–531. doi:10.1016/j.jped.2016.01.009.
- Schmelzle HR, Fusch C. Body fat in neonates and young infants: Validation of skinfold thickness versus dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2002;76(5):1096–1100. doi:10.1093/ajcn/76.5.1096.
- 64. Olhager E, Forsum E. Assessment of total body fat using the skinfold technique in full-term and preterm infants. *Acta Paediatr*. 2007;95(1):21–28. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2006.tb02175.x.
- 65. Strydom K, Van Niekerk E, Dhansay MA. Factors affecting body composition in preterm infants: Assessment techniques and nutritional interventions. *Pediatr Neonatol.* 2017. doi:10.1016/J.PEDNEO.2017.10.007.
- 66. Bellou TF. Skinfold measurements enhance nutrition assessments and care planning for children with developmental delays and disabilities. *ICAN Infant, Child, Adolesc Nutr.* 2011;3(3):158–170. doi:10.1177/1941406411403305.
- 67. Heyward VH, Wagner DR. *Applied body composition assessment.* 2nd ed. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2004.
- Brans YW, Sumners JE, Dweck HS, Cassady G. A noninvasive approach to body composition in the neonate: Dynamic skinfold measurements. *Pediatr Res.* 1974;8(4):215–222. doi:10.1203/00006450-197404000-00001.
- 69. Dauncey MJ, Gandy G GD. Assessment of total body fat in infancy from skinfold thickness measurements. *Arch Dis Child*. 1977;52:223–227.
- 70. Durnin JVGA, Rahaman MM. The assessment of the amount of fat in the human body from measurements of skinfold thickness. *Br J Nutr*. 1967;21:681–689. doi:10.1079/BJN19670070.
- 71. Durnin JVGA, Womersley J. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 Years. *Br J Nutr*. 1974;32:77–97. doi:10.1079/BJN19740060.
- 72. Weststrate JA, Deurenberg P. Body composition in children: proposal for a method for calculating body fat percentage from total body density or skinfold-

thickness measurements. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1989;50(5):1104–1115. doi:10.1093/ajcn/50.5.1104.

- 73. Olhager E, Flinke E, Hannerstad U, Forsum E. Studies on human body composition during the first 4 months of life using magnetic resonance imaging and isotope dilution. *Pediatr Res.* 2003;54(6):906–912. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000088064.63106.5E.
- 74. Deierlein AL, Thornton J, Hull H, Paley C, Gallagher D. An anthropometric model to estimate neonatal fat mass using air displacement plethysmography. *Nutr Metab.* 2012;9(1):21. doi:10.1186/1743-7075-9-21.
- Catalano PM, Thomas AJ, Avallone DA, Amini SB. Anthropometric estimation of neonatal body composition. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 1995;173(4):1176–1181. doi:10.1016/0002-9378(95)91348-3.
- 76. Aris IM, Soh SE, Tint MT, Liang S, Chinnadurai A, Saw SM, Kwek K, Godfrey KM, Gluckman PD, Chong YS, Yap FKP, Lee YS. Body fat in Singaporean infants: Development of body fat prediction equations in Asian newborns. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2013;67(9):922–927. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.69.
- 77. Cauble JS, Dewi M, Hull HR. Validity of anthropometric equations to estimate infant fat mass at birth and in early infancy. *BMC Pediatr*. 2017;17(1):88. doi:10.1186/s12887-017-0844-6.
- 78. Anand SS, Gupta MK, Schulze KM, Desai D, Abdalla N, Wahi G, Wade C, Scheufler P, Mcdonald SD, Morrison KM, Vasudevan A, Dwarakanath P, Srinivasan K, Kurpad A, Gerstein HC, Teo KK. What accounts for ethnic differences in newborn skinfold thickness comparing South Asians and White Caucasians? Findings from the START and FAMILY Birth Cohorts. *Int J Obes*. 2015;40:239–244. doi:10.1038/ijo.2015.171.
- 79. Rodríguez G, Samper MP, Olivares JL, Ventura P, Moreno LA, Pérez-González JM. Skinfold measurements at birth: sex and anthropometric influence. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*. 2005;90(3):F273-5. doi:10.1136/adc.2004.060723.
- 80. Fanelli M, Kuczmarski R. Ultrasound as an approach body to assessing body composition. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1984;39(5):703–709.
- 81. Wagner DR. Ultrasound as a Tool to Assess Body Fat. *J Obes*. 2013. doi:10.1155/2013/280713.
- 82. Toomey C, McCreesh K, Leahy S, Jakeman P. Technical considerations for accurate measurement of subcutaneous adipose tissue thickness using B-mode ultrasound. *Ultrasound*. 2011;19(2):91–96. doi:10.1258/ult.2011.010057.
- Takai Y, Ohta M, Akagi R, Kato E, Wakahara T, Kawakami Y, Fukunaga T, Kanehisa H. Applicability of ultrasound muscle thickness measurements for predicting fat-free mass in elderly population. *J Nutr Heal Aging*. 2014;18(6):579–

585. doi:10.1007/s12603-013-0419-7.

- Pineau J-C, Lalys L, Pellegrini M, Battistini NC. Body fat mass assessment: A comparison between an ultrasound-based device and a discovery A model of DXA. *ISRN Obes*. 2013;2013:462394. doi:10.1155/2013/462394.
- Pineau J-C, Lalys L, Bocquet M, Guihard-Costa A-M, Polak M, Frelut M-L, Peres G, Dabbas-Tyan M. Ultrasound measurement of total body fat in obese adolescents. *Ann Nutr Metab.* 2010;56(1):36–44. doi:10.1159/000265849.
- 86. Sanada K, Kearns CF, Midorikawa T, Abe T. Prediction and validation of total and regional skeletal muscle mass by ultrasound in Japanese adults. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2006;96(1):24–31. doi:10.1007/s00421-005-0061-0.
- 87. Mourtzakis M, Wischmeyer P. Bedside ultrasound measurement of skeletal muscle. *Cur Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2014;17:389–395.
- Teigen LM, Kuchnia AJ, Mourtzakis M, Earthman CP. The use of technology for estimating body composition. *Nutr Clin Pract.* 2017;32(1):20–29. doi:10.1177/0884533616676264.
- Nijholt W, Scafoglieri A, Jager-Wittenaar H, Hobbelen JSM, van der Schans CP. The reliability and validity of ultrasound to quantify muscles in older adults: a systematic review. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*. 2017;8(5):702–712. doi:10.1002/jcsm.12210.
- 90. Leahy S, Toomey C, McCreesh K, O'Neill C, Jakeman P. Ultrasound measurement of subcutaneous adipose tissue thickness accurately predicts total and segmental body fat of young adults. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* 2012;38(1):28–34. doi:10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2011.10.011.
- 91. Takai Y, Ohta M, Akagi R, Kato E, Wakahara T, Kawakami Y, Fukunaga T, Kanehisa H. Validity of ultrasound muscle thickness measurements for predicting leg skeletal muscle mass in healthy Japanese middle-aged and older individuals. *J Physiol Anthropol.* 2013;32(1):12. doi:10.1186/1880-6805-32-12.
- 92. Abe T, Kondo M, Kawakami Y, Fukunaga T. Prediction equations for body composition of Japanese adults by B-mode ultrasound. *Am J Hum Biol.* 1994;6(2):161–170. doi:10.1002/ajhb.1310060204.
- 93. Ahmad I, Nemet D, Eliakim A, Koeppel R, Grochow D, Coussens M, Gallitto S, Rich J, Pontello A, Leu S-Y, Cooper DM, Waffarn F, Author C. Body composition and its components in preterm and term newborns: A cross-sectional, multi-modal investigation. *Am J Hum Biol.* 2010;22(1):69–75. doi:10.1002/ajhb.20955.
- 94. Tillquist M, Kutsogiannis DJ, Wischmeyer PE, Kummerlen C, Leung R, Stollery D, Karvellas CJ, Preiser J-C, Bird N, Kozar R, Heyland DK. Bedside ultrasound is a practical and reliable measurement tool for assessing quadriceps muscle layer thickness. *J Parenter Enter Nutr.* 2014;38(7):886–90.

doi:10.1177/0148607113501327.

- McLeod G, Geddes D, Nathan E, Sherriff J, Simmer K, Hartmann P. Feasibility of using ultrasound to measure preterm body composition and to assess macronutrient influences on tissue accretion rates. *Early Hum Dev*. 2013;89(8):577–582. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2013.02.007.
- 96. Ishida H, Watanabe S. Influence of inward pressure of the transducer on lateral abdominal muscle thickness during ultrasound imaging. *J Orthop Sport Phys Ther*. 2012. doi:10.2519/jospt.2012.4064.
- 97. Tint M-T, Ward LC, Soh SE, Aris IM, Chinnadurai A, Saw SM, Gluckman PD, Godfrey KM, Chong Y-S, Kramer MS, Yap F, Lingwood B, Lee YS. Estimation of fat-free mass in Asian neonates using bioelectrical impedance analysis. *Br J Nutr.* 2016;115(6):1033–42. doi:10.1017/S0007114515005486.
- 98. Daly-Wolfe KM, Jordan KC, Slater H, Beachy JC, Moyer-Mileur LJ. Mid-arm circumference is a reliable method to estimate adiposity in preterm and term infants. *Pediatr Res.* 2015;78(3):336–341. doi:10.1038/pr.2015.103.
- 99. Sen B, Bose K, Shaikh S, Mahalanabis D. Prediction equations for body-fat percentage in Indian infants and young children using skinfold thickness and midarm circumference. *J Heal Popul Nutr.* 2010;28(3):221–229.
- 100. Sheng H, Muthappa P, Wong W, Schanler R. Pitfalls of body fat assessments in premature infants by anthropometry. *Biol Neonate*. 1993;64:279–286.
- 101. Payal V, Jora R, Sharma P, Gupta PK, Gupta M. Premature birth and insulin resistance in infancy: A prospective cohort study. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* 2016;20(4):497–505. doi:10.4103/2230-8210.183470.
- Zheng M, Lamb KE, Grimes C, Laws R, Bolton K, Ong KK, Campbell K. Rapid weight gain during infancy and subsequent adiposity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of evidence. *Obes Rev.* 2018;19(3):321–332. doi:10.1111/obr.12632.
- 103. Ong KKL, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB. Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: prospective cohort study. *Br J Dermatol BMJ BMJ*. 1999;141320(320):185–91967.
- 104. Scheurer JM, Zhang L, Gray HL, Weir K, Demerath EW, Ramel SE. Body composition trajectories from infancy to preschool in children born premature versus full-term. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2016;64(6):1. doi:10.1097/MPG.00000000001494.
- 105. Uauy R, Koletzko B. Defining the nutritional needs of preterm infants. *World Rev Nutr Diet.* 2014. doi:10.1159/000358453.
- 106. Brandt I, Sticker EJ, Lentze MJ. Catch-up growth of head circumference of very

low birth weight, small for gestational age preterm infants and mental development to adulthood. *J Pediatr*. 2003;142(5):463–8. doi:10.1067/mpd.2003.149.

- 107. Roggero P, Gianni ML, Orsi A, Amato O, Piemontese P, Liotto N, Morlacchi L, Taroni F, Garavaglia E, Bracco B, Agosti M, Mosca F. Implementation of nutritional strategies decreases postnatal growth restriction in preterm infants. Denning PW, ed. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(12):e51166. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051166.
- Morgan C, McGowan P, Herwitker S, Hart AE, Turner MA. Postnatal head growth in preterm infants: A randomized controlled parenteral nutrition study. *Pediatrics*. 2014;133(1):e120–e128. doi:10.1542/peds.2005-1926.
- Stephens BE, Walden R V., Gargus R, Tucker R, McKinley L, Mance M, Nye J, Vohr BR. First-week protein and energy intakes are associated with 18-month developmental outcomes in extremely low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics*. 2009;123(5):1337–1343. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-0545.
- 110. Ferguson AN, Grabich SC, Olsen IE, Cantrell R, Clark RH, Ballew WN, Chou J, Lawson ML. BMI Is a Better Body Proportionality Measure than the Ponderal Index and Weight-for-Length for Preterm Infants. *Neonatology*. 2018;113(2):108– 116. doi:10.1159/000480118.
- 111. De Cunto A, Paviotti G, Ronfani L, Travan L, Bua J, Cont G, Demarini S. Can body mass index accurately predict adiposity in newborns? *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*. 2014;99(3):F238-9. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2013-305386.
- Olsen IE, Lawson ML, Ferguson AN, Cantrell R, Grabich SC, Zemel BS, Clark RH. BMI curves for preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. 2015;135(3). doi:10.1542/peds.2014-2777.
- 113. Fenton TR, Kim JH. A systematic review and meta-analysis to revise the Fenton growth chart for preterm infants. *BMC Pediatr*. 2013;13:59. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-13-59.
- 114. World Health Organization. *WHO Child Growth Standards*.; 2006. Available at: https://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/Technical\_report.pdf. Accessed July 2, 2019.
- 115. Griffin IJ, Cooke RJ. Development of whole body adiposity in preterm infants. *Early Hum Dev.* 2012;88:S19–S24. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2011.12.023.
- 116. Roy SM, Spivack JG, Faith MS, Chesi A, Mitchell JA, Kelly A, Grant SFA, McCormack SE, Zemel BS. Infant BMI or weight-for-length and obesity risk in early childhood. *Pediatrics*. 2016;137(5):e20153492. doi:10.1542/peds.2015-3492.
- 117. Aris IM, Rifas-Shiman SL, Li L-J, Yang S, Belfort MB, Thompson J, Hivert M-F,

Patel R, Martin RM, Kramer MS, Oken E. Association of weight for length vs body mass index during the first 2 years of life with cardiometabolic risk in early adolescence. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2018;1(5):e182460. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.2460.

- 118. Wells J. A Hattori chart analysis of body mass index in infants and children. *Int J Obes*. 2000;24(3):325–329. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801132.
- 119. Plaisier A, Raets MMA, van der Starre C, Feijen-Roon M, Govaert P, Lequin MH, Heemskerk AM, Dudink J. Safety of routine early MRI in preterm infants. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2012;42(10):1205–11. doi:10.1007/s00247-012-2426-y.
- 120. Benavente-Fernández I, Lubián-López P, Zuazo-Ojeda M, Jiménez-Gómez G, Lechuga-Sancho A. Safety of magnetic resonance imaging in preterm infants. *Acta Paediatr.* 2010;99(6):850–853. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2010.01708.x.
- 121. Ma G, Yao M, Liu Y, Lin A, Zou H, Urlando A, Wong WW, Nommsen-Rivers L, Dewey KG. Validation of a new pediatric air-displacement plethysmograph for assessing body composition in infants. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2004;79(4):653–660. doi:10.1093/ajcn/79.4.653.
- Scholten RR, Pillen S, Verrips A, Zwarts MJ. Quantitative ultrasonography of skeletal muscles in children: Normal values. *Muscle and Nerve*. 2003;27(6):693– 698. doi:10.1002/mus.10384.
- 123. Shrout PE, Fleiss JL. Intraclass correlations: Uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychol Bull.* 1979;86(2):420–428. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.86.2.420.
- Simon L, Frondas-Chauty A, Senterre T, Flamant C, Darmaun D, Roze´abstract J-C. Determinants of body composition in preterm infants at the time of hospital discharge 1-3. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2014. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.080945.
- 125. Ahmad I, Nemet D, Eliakim A, Koeppel R, Grochow D, Coussens M, Gallitto S, Rich J, Pontello A, Leu S-Y, Cooper DM, Waffarn F. Body composition and its components in preterm and term newborns: A cross-sectional, multimodal investigation. *Am J Hum Biol.* 2010;22(1):69–75. doi:10.1002/ajhb.20955.
- 126. Fields DA, Krishnan S, Wisniewski AB. Sex differences in body composition early in life. *Gend Med.* 2009;6(2):369–375. doi:10.1016/J.GENM.2009.07.003.